American Financial Exchange

Rulebook

UNSECURED PRODUCTS ONLY

Effective as of May 30, 2023

American Financial Exchange, LLC

c/o CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

1301 22nd Street

Suite 1100

Oak Brook, IL 60523

NOTICES

BY ACCESSING, OR ENTERING ANY ORDER INTO, ANY AMERICAN FINANCIAL EXCHANGE, LLC SYSTEM, AND WITHOUT ANY NEED FOR ANY FURTHER ACTION, UNDERTAKING OR AGREEMENT, AN EXCHANGE PARTICIPANT OR AUTHORIZED TRADER AGREES (I) TO BE BOUND BY, AND COMPLY WITH, THE RULES OF THE EXCHANGE AS SUCH RULES MAY BE AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME AND (II) TO BECOME SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE EXCHANGE WITH RESPECT TO ANY AND ALL MATTERS ARISING FROM, RELATED TO, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THE STATUS, ACTIONS OR OMISSIONS OF SUCH EXCHANGE PARTICIPANT OR AUTHORIZED TRADER.

AMERIBOR[®] IS A REGISTERED TRADEMARK OF AMERICAN FINANCIAL EXCHANGE, LLC AND MAY NOT BE USED WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF AMERICAN FINANCIAL EXCHANGE, LLC.

Table of Contents

Chapter I

1.1 Introduction	. 5
1.2 Effectiveness of Rules	. 5
1.3 Governing Law	. 5
1.4 Definitions	. 5

Chapter II

Exchange Governance

2.1 Principal Place of Business
2.2 Board of Managers
2.3 Exchange Governance Committees 12
2.3.1 Executive Committee
2.4 Standing Committees
2.4.1 Responsibilities and Composition
2.4.2 Committee on Benchmark Oversight
2.4.3 Committee on Participation 17
2.4.4 Committee on Trading and Market Operations 17
2.4.5 Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution
2.5 Exchange Liability
2.5.1 Infringement
2.6 Confidentiality
2.6.1 Exchange Participant Confidentiality Obligations
2.6.2 AFX Confidentiality Obligations
2.7 Emergencies
2.8 New Rules and Amendments
2.8.1 Rulebook Changes
2.8.2 Notice of Rulebook Changes
2.9 Regulation and Other Exchange Operations

Chapter III

Exchange Participation

3.1 Participation	n Classes	28
-------------------	-----------	----

Confidential Version 4. 4 Unsecured Products Only **Table of Contents** (continued)

3.1.1 Types of Market Participants
3.1.1.1 Unsecured Market Participants
3.1.2 Non-Bank Loan Market Participants
3.1.2.2 Insured Depository Institutions
3.1.3 Additional Participation Classes
3.2 Eligibility for Participation
3.3 Participation Application
3.3.1 General Provisions
3.3.2 Maintenance of Eligibility
3.3.3 Denial of Participation
3.3.4 Settlement of Loans and Other Transactions
3.3.5 Unsecured Market Counterparty Authorization and Limits
3.4 Privileges
3.4.1 Authorized Traders
3.5 Supervision of Employees
3.6 Provision of Information to the Exchange
3.6.1 Addresses and Contact Information
3.6.2 Provision of Information to the Exchange Pursuant to Loan Validation Request
3.7 Fees and Payments
3.8 Prohibited Conduct
3.8.1 Exchange Participants
3.8.2 Designated Exchange Participants
3.9 Exchange Rule Violations
3.10 Termination
3.11 Application of Rules and Jurisdiction
3.12 Indemnification
3.12.1 Exchange Participant Indemnification 41
3.12.2 AFX Indemnification
3.13 Dispute Resolution
3.14 Withdrawal by an Exchange Participant

Confidential Version 4. 4 Unsecured Products Only **Table of Contents** (continued)

3.15 AFX Representations, Warranties and Covenants	. 42)
--	------	---

Chapter IV Trading and Market Operations

4.1 General Provisions
4.2 The AFX Markets
4.3 Product Specifications
4.4 Orders
4.4.1 Order Entry Procedures
4.4.2 Partial Fills
4.4.3 Crossed or Locked Markets 45
4.4.4 Unsecured Lending Limit Specifications
4.4.5 Minimum Offer Price Limit by Counterparty Functionality 46
4.5 Trading
4.5.1 Daily Close Price
4.5.2 Daily Loan Market Price Limit
4.5.4 Trading Hours
4.5.5 Trade Execution
4.5.5.1 Order Prerequisites
4.5.5.2 Price/Time Priority
4.5.5.3 Trade Confirmations
4.5.5.4 Effect of Execution
4.5.5.5 Trades Are Between Participants Exclusively
4.5.6 Prohibited Trading and Trading-Related Activities
4.5.7 Termination/Suspension and Trade Invalidation
4.6 Settlement Services for Unsecured Trades

Chapter V AMERIBOR[®] Deposits

5.1 Responsibilities and Obligations of AMERIBOR	[®] Deposits Participants 54
--	---------------------------------------

Confidential Version 4. 4 Unsecured Products Only **Table of Contents** (continued)

Chapter VI AFX Correspondent Participants

6.1 – 6.8 General Provisions of AFX Correspondent Participants
Chapter VII
Benchmarks
7.1 – 7.5 Benchmarks

Appendix A Standard Terms

Chapter I American Financial Exchange

1.1 Introduction

The American Financial Exchange, LLC ("**AFX**" or the "**Exchange**") is an organization structured to provide an efficient rules-based electronic exchange for Exchange Participants to borrow and lend on standardized terms. AFX has contracted with third party service providers, and may contract with other service providers, to perform services related to Exchange operations and the administration of Exchange Rules and, in general, to further the fair and orderly administration of AFX Markets.

1.2 Effectiveness of Rules

Unless otherwise specified by the Board, all Rules of the Exchange and amendments thereto from time to time adopted by the Exchange shall become effective on such date as may be determined by the Exchange.

It is understood and agreed by all Participants that AFX is providing the facilities of the Exchange for use by such Participants in connection with the submission of Orders and resulting execution of Loan transactions, and that all such transactions shall be entered into solely between the Participants, acting as principals. Subject in all respects to Section 2.5, neither AFX nor any Service Provider to AFX shall have any responsibility or liability whatsoever for any obligations of the parties to any such transactions executed through the Exchange or for compliance by such parties with any Applicable Law, or internal policies and procedures, that may be applicable to their entering into such transactions.

1.3 Governing Law

These Rules will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Illinois.

1.4 Definitions

"AFX" has the meaning assigned to it in the Introduction.

"AFX ETS" (or "AFX System" or "Trading System") means the Exchange's electronic trading system and interface pursuant to which Exchange Participants may access the Trading Platform and effectuate transactions in the AFX Markets.

"AFX Markets" means the Loan Market, the AMERIBOR[®] Market and such other additional markets as may be established by the Exchange from time to time.

"AFX Related Persons" has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"AMERIBOR[®] Rate" means any of the AMERIBOR[®] rates determined using the AFX proprietary methodology. They are denoted as a 360-day annualized percentage rates, following day convention rounded to the fifth decimal.

"**Applicable Law**" means any statute, law, regulation, rule or ordinance of any federal, state or local governmental entity applicable to such party.

"Authorized Trader" means an approved employee of an Exchange Participant who is authorized to receive privileges to access the Trading Platform in one or more approved AFX Markets.

"**Bank**" means (i) a "member bank", as defined in Section 1 of the Federal Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. 221) or (ii) a "depository institution", as defined in Section 19(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. 461(b)(1)(A)), in each case, as determined by AFX in its sole discretion; provided, that the term "Bank" shall not include any credit union unless such credit union is an "insured credit union", as such term is defined in Section 101 of the Federal Credit Union Act (12 U.S.C. 1752).

"Benchmark" means a standard or point of reference such as an interest rate or index, against which things may be compared or assessed.

"Benchmark Calculation Agent" means the entity that administers the calculation of the benchmark.

"Bid Order" means an Order to enter into a Loan as Borrower.

"Board of Managers" (or the **"Board**") means a board comprised of individuals charged with managing the affairs of the Exchange as constituted in the Constitutive Documents.

"**Borrower**" means, with respect to a Loan, the Participant that has entered into such Loan as a "borrower".

"**Business Day**" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks in Chicago, Illinois are authorized or required by law to close.

"Cboe" means Cboe Exchange, Inc. and/or Cboe Futures Exchange, LLC.

"CFTC" means the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

"Close of Market" means 5:00 p.m. Central Time or such other time as notified to the Participants by the Exchange.

"Committee" means the Executive Committee or a Standing Committee, as applicable.

"Confidential Information" has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"**Constitutive Documents**" means the certificate of formation and the Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of AFX, each as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"**Correspondent Bank**" means a depository institution that consolidates funds from one or more "downstream" depository institutions on whose behalf the Correspondent Bank provides correspondent banking services and that are not direct Participants of AFX.

"Credit Risk Manager" means one or more individual whom the Participant has designated as being responsible for managing such Participant's Unsecured Lending Limits, Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty, and other such Participant risk parameter functions made available on the Trading System from time to time.

"Deposit" means funds placed in a bank.

"Designated Exchange Participant" (or "Designated Participant") is an individual employee of an Exchange Participant who has access to the Exchange for purposes of transacting on the Exchange, or supporting such transacting on the Exchange, on behalf of the Participant by which he or she is employed and who, has been identified by the Exchange Participant as being subject, under laws or regulations applicable to, or internal policies of, the Exchange Participant, to additional personal trading restrictions related to exchange traded derivatives, including but not limited to futures and options on futures, that are based on the AMERIBOR[®] Rate and benchmarks of the Exchange.

"Effective Date" means, with respect to a Loan, the date that the underlying Trade occurred on the AFX System.

"Emergency" means any occurrence or circumstances which, in the sole discretion of the Exchange, (i) requires immediate action and (ii) threatens or may threaten such matters as the fair and orderly trading in, or the liquidation of or delivery pursuant to, any agreements, contracts or transactions on the Exchange, including without limitation and only by way of example any manipulative or attempted manipulative activity; any actual, attempted, or threatened corner, squeeze, congestion, or undue concentration of positions; any circumstances which may materially affect the performance of agreements, contracts or transactions traded on the Exchange, including failure of the settlement mechanism or the bankruptcy or insolvency of any Participant; any action taken by any governmental body, or any board of trade, market or facility which may have a direct or indirect impact on trading on the Exchange; circumstances under which the physical functions of the Exchange are, or are threatened to be, severely and adversely affected by a physical emergency including, but not limited to fire or other casualty, bomb threats, substantial inclement weather, power failures, communications or automated system breakdowns; and any other circumstances which may have or threaten to have a severe, adverse effect upon the fair and orderly functioning of the Exchange.

"Encumbrance" means any pledge, lien, mortgage, security interest or other encumbrance.

"Evergreen" means any loan or deposit that does not require the principal amount to be repaid within a specified period of time. Such evergreen loans and deposits will automatically be extended by one (1) business day subject to business day convention until such time as either party to the loan or deposit transaction notifies the other party to the loan or deposit transaction that it is terminating such loan or deposit transaction effectively immediately at which time such loan or deposit transaction will be locked into a fixed maturity as specified in the Term Sheet for such loan or deposit.

"Executive Committee" has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"Exchange" has the meaning assigned to it in the Introduction.

"Exchange Proprietary Information" means all information relating to the AFX ETS and the AFX Markets that is produced by, developed through or obtained by virtue of access to the AFX ETS, the Trading Platform or AFX Markets, including (i) information relating to the operation of the Trading System; (ii) proprietary information based on or produced by proprietary methodologies of the Exchange, including, without limitation, the AMERIBOR[®] Rate or AMERIBOR[®] Rates; and (iii) all trade data relating to Orders and Trades entered into or executed through the AFX ETS.

"Federal Funds Interest Rate or Fed Funds" means the overnight interest rate of the federal funds market consisting of domestic unsecured borrowings in U.S. dollars by depository institutions from other depository institutions and certain other entities, primarily government-sponsored enterprises, which appears at "Bloomberg EFFR Continuous Index Ticker Symbol FEDL01" (the "Price Source") or, if such Price Source is not available, in another publication or price source identified by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight.

"Final AMERIBOR[®] Rate" means the final rate determined by the Exchange, using the AFX proprietary methodology, as the trade volume weighted rate of all the matched transactions that are executed during an AMERIBOR[®] Market. It is denoted as 360-day annualized percentage rate, following business day convention, rounded to the fifth decimal.

"**Founding Participant**" means an Exchange Participant that has agreed to be a "founding participant" in connection with the launch of the Exchange.

"Illinois UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Illinois.

"Indemnification Limitation" has the meaning assigned to it in Rule 2.5.1.

"IOSCO" refers to the International Organization of Securities Commissions which is an association of organizations that regulate the world's securities and futures markets.

"Lender" with respect to a Loan means the Participant that has entered into such Loan as a "lender".

"Loan" means an Unsecured Loan.

"Loan Market" means an AFX Market in which Participants electronically commit to lending and borrowing short-term funds for commercial purposes. The Exchange's Loan Markets consist of the Unsecured Market.

"Loan Market Participant" means a Participant that has been approved to participate in the Loan Markets as described in the Rules.

"**Maturity Date**" means the date that is such number of calendar days as corresponds to the stated term of the loan after the term commencement start date of a Trade (which, in the case of Unsecured Trades is the date of the Trade match; provided, that if any such date is not a Business Day, the repayment date shall be the next Business Day.

"Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty" has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"Offer Order" means an Order to enter into a Loan on the AFX System as Lender.

"Order" means an order to buy or sell a stated amount of a product at a specified interest rate (price) or better that has been entered into the Trading System.

"**Participant**" (or "**Exchange Participant**") means any person or entity that has been duly approved by the Exchange to engage in lending and borrowing activities in the AFX Markets by use of the Trading System.

"Participant Application" means the application pursuant to which a person or entity applies to become an Exchange Participant, including, without limitation, any agreements, covenants, representation or warranties provided by such person or entity therein.

"Participation" or ("Exchange Participation") has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"Participation Class" has the meaning assigned to it in these Rules.

"Principal" means a Participant who engages in borrowing or lending activities on their own behalf.

"**Provider of Operational Services**" means a Service Provider that shall perform market surveillance, manage information technology services and perform certain other agreed upon duties on behalf of the Exchange. Initially, the Exchange has contracted with Loan Markets, LLC to provide these services. Any action taken by a Provider of Operational Services, or its employees or authorized agents, acting on behalf of the Exchange pursuant to a services agreement shall be deemed to be an action taken by the Exchange.

"Reference rate" means an interest rate benchmark used to set other interest rates.

"**Rules of the Exchange**" (or "**Exchange Rules**", "**Rulebook**" or "**Rules**") means the rules of the Exchange contained in this Rulebook or otherwise promulgated by the Exchange, as such rules may be amended, modified and supplemented from time to time.

"Senior Supervisory Officer" means a senior officer of a Participant whom the Participant has designated as being responsible for and overseeing the activities of each such Participant's Authorized Traders.

"Service Provider" means, as used with reference to the Exchange, any provider of services to the Exchange, including without limitation the Provider of Operational Services.

"Standard Terms" (or "AFX Standard Terms") means the standard lending terms agreement governing each Loan entered into as a result of a Trade effectuated through the AFX ETS, in the form attached hereto as Appendix A. The Standard Terms shall be deemed to be the agreed-upon lending and borrowing terms between any two Participants that execute a Trade through the AFX ETS in accordance with these Exchange Rules, as supplemented by the specific terms of such Trade reflected in each Trade confirmation (with respect to principal amount, rate, duration, and any other specific Trade terms). The AFX Standard Terms may be amended from time to time by the Exchange at its discretion, but any such amendment shall only effect Loans entered into after such amendment.

"**Standing Committee**" means any committee of the Board that may be composed, in part or in whole, of Exchange Participants for purposes of providing oversight of one or more particular Exchange functions. The Standing Committees may initially include (i) a Committee on Benchmark Oversight (ii) Committee on Trading and Market Operations; (iii) a Committee on Participation; and (iv) a Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution.

"**Trade**" means an Unsecured Trade.

"**Trading Platform**" means the Exchange's electronic, internet-accessible system for posting and accepting bids to buy and offers to sell Loans and to establish the AMERIBOR[®] Rate or AMERIBOR[®] Rates. All AFX borrowing and lending must be effectuated through the Trading Platform in order to be recognized under Exchange Rules.

"Unsecured Lending Limit" means the aggregate dollar amount that a lending Exchange Participant agrees to lend to an approved potential Borrower in respect of each Unsecured Market product (i.e., Product Lending Limit) or all product (i.e., Aggregate Lending Limit).

"Unsecured Loan" means the unsecured loan underlying an Unsecured Trade that has been effectuated through the AFX ETS in the Unsecured Market.

- 10 -

"Unsecured Market" means an AFX Market in which Exchange Participants commit to unsecured loan transactions through the Trading Platform on the basis of AFX Standard Terms with pre-approved counterparties.

"Unsecured Market" means the Unsecured Market.

"Unsecured Trade" means an Unsecured Market transaction executed on the AFX Trading Platform between two parties, among whom the Lender has previously designated the Borrower as an acceptable counterparty.

"User Agreement" means the agreement so designated under which, inter alia, AFX agrees to make available the Loan Market, and the Trading Platform to an Exchange Participant together with any ancillary agreements, including, without limitation, the agreement to be bound by the terms and conditions of these Rules.

Unless otherwise defined herein, the following terms are used herein as defined in the Illinois UCC: "financial assets", "entitlement holder", "securities intermediary" and "securities intermediary's jurisdiction", and "securities account".

Chapter II Exchange Governance

2.1 Principal Place of Business

The Exchange shall have its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois.

2.2 Board of Managers

The business and affairs of the Exchange shall be overseen by and under the direction of the Board of Managers, with all rights and powers generally conferred by law or otherwise provided in the Exchange's Constitutive Documents. Notwithstanding anything in Exchange Rules to the contrary, the Board of Managers shall have the power and authority to call for review, affirm, modify, suspend and/or overrule any and all decisions of its Committees and of Exchange management. Final authority with respect to interpretation of Exchange Rules, and all decisions related to the operation of the Exchange and the activities of Participants, shall be reserved to the Board of Managers or its delegate, which may include one or more Committees. Exchange Rules shall be interpreted in such a manner to effectuate the purposes and business of the Exchange and to promote the fair and orderly administration of the AFX Markets.

2.3 Exchange Governance Committees

The Board of Managers may form one or more Committees, which may be comprised, in part or in whole, of representatives of Participants of the Exchange. Any such Committee shall have composition and qualification standards as determined solely, and shall have the authority and power to exercise the functions delegated to it, by the Board of Managers.

2.3.1 Executive Committee

The Board shall have an Executive Committee ("**Executive Committee**") consisting of the Chief Executive Officer or similar officer of the Exchange, a member of the Board selected by the Chairman of the Board, and such other members as may be appointed from time to time. Such other members may include the chairpersons from each of (i) the Committee on Trading and Market Operations; (ii) the Committee on Participation; (iii) the Committee on Benchmark Oversight; and (iv) the Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution. The Executive Committee may, to the extent not reserved by the Board to itself, oversee the affairs of the Exchange; receive and appropriately act upon recommendations from the Standing Committees; address and resolve issues emerging from the Standing Committees; establish Committee; determine voting privileges, if any, of Exchange Participants on matters submitted to them; and establish additional Committees as may be deemed necessary from time to time.

2.4 Standing Committees

2.4.1 Responsibilities and Composition

There shall initially be four Standing Committees of the Exchange for the purpose of providing oversight of specific market functions. The four Committees are:

- Committee on Benchmark Oversight;
- Committee on Trading and Market Operations;
- Committee on Participation; and
- Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution

Standing Committees shall forward recommendations to the Executive Committee, which shall retain all authority, to the extent not reserved by the Board, to enact such recommendations. Additional Committees may be formed as necessary at the discretion of the Executive Committee.

Any Exchange Participant may nominate representatives to serve on a Standing Committee. Nominations shall be evaluated by the Executive Committee, which in its sole discretion may elect the members of each Standing Committee.

2.4.2 Committee on Benchmark Oversight

(a) Committee on Benchmark Oversight is responsible for providing independent oversight of the benchmarks established by the AFX and will work with the other Committees on an as needed basis. These oversight responsibilities include:

Benchmark design:

- The definition and methodology of the Benchmark;
- General issues and risks regarding the Benchmark;
- The calculation methodology of the Benchmark, and any proposed changes to the methodology.

Integrity of the Benchmark determination and control framework:

- Reliability and security of the processes and systems used to calculate the Benchmark;
- Audit findings related to the Benchmark production process;
- Any use of non-standard procedures in the production of the Benchmark, including the use of staff expert judgment or contingency data sources;
- Existing and potential conflicts of interest and related policies imposed on staff; and
- Complaints or inquiries received by the AFX and/or Calculation Agent regarding the Benchmark.

The Committee on Benchmark Oversight will meet at least twice annually and on an as needed basis to address issue(s) pertaining to the Benchmark(s).

(b) The Committee on Benchmark Oversight has specified the following procedures for the determination of an AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate and AMERIBOR® term rate on days when the AFX market experiences an unscheduled closure or disruption; when the AFX market is open and there are no loans on the AFX market with which to calculate an AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate; when more than ten days of transaction data would be needed to meet a minimum threshold of transaction principal in order to calculate an AMERIBOR® Term rate; or, in the judgment of the Committee on Benchmark Oversight, AFX is for any other reason unable to publish an AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate or an AMERIBOR® Term rate that accurately reflects the relevant market for such rate. These procedures will be reviewed periodically by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight and may be modified when deemed appropriate.

(c) Procedures:

1. Weekends and Normally Scheduled AFX Holidays: The AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate and AMERIBOR® term rate on any weekends or normally scheduled AFX holidays shall be the rate published by AFX for the prior AFX business day.

2. Unscheduled Closure or Disruption: The AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate and an AMERIBOR® Term rate when there is an unscheduled closure or disruption (such as due to ad hoc national holidays, natural disasters, or disruptions to systems or infrastructure) shall be the rate published by AFX for the prior AFX business day, unless the Committee on Benchmark Oversight determines that the circumstance constitutes an unforeseen exogenous event.

3. Unforeseen Exogenous Event(s): The following procedures shall apply upon the occurrence of an unforeseen exogenous event such as: when the AFX market is open and there are no loans on the AFX market with which to calculate an AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate; when the transaction data needed to reach the minimum volume to calculate an AMERIBOR® Term rate exceeds the maximum lookback window; or, in the judgment of the Committee on Benchmark Oversight, AFX is for any other reason unable to publish an AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate or an AMERIBOR® Term rate that accurately reflects the relevant market for such rate.

A. For the AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate (as determined by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight), the AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate will be determined based on the recent historical AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate spread in relation to the Fed Funds rate. The recent historical AMERIBOR® spread to Fed Funds rate will be determined as the average differential between the Fed Funds rate and the AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate during the prior 90 business day period. The recent historical AMERIBOR® spread will then be added to the daily closing Fed Funds interest rate on the relevant day in order to determine the closing AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate for that day until such time as the Committee on Benchmark Oversight determines that the unforeseen exogenous event(s) have terminated. Such determination will be communicated to all AFX Members and will be published on <u>www.ameribor.net</u> website.

B. For the AMERIBOR® Term rate (as determined by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight), the AMERIBOR® Term rate will be the previous day's rate. Provided however, if one of the components of an AMERIBOR® Term rate is not available on a given day, the calculating agent may use the other available data components for purposes of the calculation, provided that the specified volume threshold is met. For the AMERIBOR® Term-30, the transaction data includes all eligible transactions reported over the prior five AFX business days. If the transaction data from the prior five AFX business days does not meet the minimum volume threshold of \$25 billion, the calculation agent will add the volume from the AFX business day preceding the five-day window in order to meet the volume The calculation agent will continue to add the next preceding day's threshold. volume to the AMERIBOR® Term-30 calculation until the minimum volume threshold is achieved, up to a maximum ten-day lookback window. If a ten-day lookback window does not result in sufficient transaction volume to reach the \$25 billion minimum volume threshold, the AMERIBOR® Term-30 rate will be the previous day's rate. For the AMERIBOR® Term-90, the transaction data includes all eligible transactions reported over the prior five AFX business days. If the transaction data from the prior five AFX business days does not meet the minimum volume threshold of \$10 billion, the calculation agent will add the volume from the AFX business day preceding the five-day window in order to meet the volume threshold. The calculation agent will continue to add the next preceding day's volume to the AMERIBOR® Term-90 calculation until the minimum volume threshold is achieved, up to a maximum fifteen-day lookback. If the fifteen-day lookback window does not result in sufficient transaction volume to reach the \$10 billion minimum volume threshold, the AMERIBOR® Term-90 rate will be the previous day's rate. Such determination will be communicated to all AFX Members and will be published on www.ameribor.net website.

4. Unavailability of Fed Funds Rate: In the event of an unforeseen exogenous event and the Fed Funds rate or the Price Source is not available, either because of an unforeseen shutdown or suspension of publication of the Fed Funds rate or the Price Source, or for any other reason, as determined by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight, the -15-

AMERIBOR® benchmark interest rate and an AMERIBOR® Term rate will be determined, in the manner set forth in this Rule 2.4.2 based on such alternative price sources, market data, information from recognized dealers in the relevant markets or other sources that the Committee on Benchmark Oversight determines to be a reasonable substitute for the Fed Funds rate. Such determination will be communicated to all AFX Members and will be published on the on <u>www.ameribor.net</u> website.

(d) AFX will consult with Cboe Futures Exchange, LLC in its capacity as the Designated Contract Market ("DCM") for AMERIBOR® futures contracts regarding any determination made by the Committee on Benchmark Oversight pursuant to subparagraphs 2, 3 or 4 of paragraph (c) of this Rule 2.4.2.

(e) Derived AMERIBOR® Term rates: AMERIBOR® Term rates are derived proprietary, forward-looking benchmarks representative of funding costs for 30, 90, 180 and 360 days for all U.S. banks and financial institutions. The AMERIBOR® Term-30 rate is calculated using only real-world transaction data, combining AMERIBOR® unsecured lending data from AFX's overnight and thirty-day markets alongside primary market wholesale, unsecured USDdenominated commercial paper and commercial deposit issuances from US-based financial institutions. Commercial paper and commercial deposit issuances are reported by the Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC). The transaction data includes all eligible transactions reported over the prior five AFX business days. Each relevant transaction's interest rate is weighted by volume and basis point value, and the combined sum of these weighted interest rates is the AMERIBOR® Term-30 rate. If the initial five-day window does not result in a minimum volume threshold of \$25 billion, the first AFX business day preceding the five-day window is then included as a fallback, and if the \$25 billion threshold is still not met, the next preceding AFX business day is added until the threshold is met, up to a maximum ten-day lookback window. If the ten-day lookback window does not result in sufficient transaction volume to reach the \$25 billion minimum volume threshold, the prior day's AMERIBOR® Term-30 rate is carried over. The AMERIBOR® Term-90 rate is calculated using only real-world transaction data from primary wholesale unsecured USD-denominated commercial paper and commercial deposit issuances from US-based financial institutions. Commercial paper and commercial deposit issuances are collected into a database by the Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC). The transaction data includes all eligible transactions reported over the prior five AFX business days. If the initial fiveday window does not result in a minimum volume threshold of \$10 billion, the first AFX business day preceding the five-day window is then included as a fallback, and if the \$10 billion threshold is still not met, the next preceding AFX business day is added until the threshold is met, up to a maximum fifteen-day lookback window. If the fifteen-day lookback window does not result in sufficient transaction volume to reach the \$10 billion minimum volume threshold, the prior day's AMERIBOR® Term-90 rate is carried over.

(f) AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates: AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates are spot interest rates that are derived from the overnight unsecured AMERIBOR® cash rate and the implied forward rates from AMERIBOR® futures prices. Initial AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates include: Overnight, 1-week, 1-month, 3-months, 6-months, 1-year and 2-years. Additional AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates will be added as the AMERIBOR® futures strip is extended. AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates represent the spot funding costs for U.S. banks and financial institutions.

(g) Procedure for publication of AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates in the event of an unscheduled closure or disruption: The procedure for publication of the AMERIBOR® Term Structure rate for when there is an unscheduled closure or disruption (such as due to ad hoc national holidays, natural disasters, or disruptions to systems or infrastructure) shall be the rate published by AFX for the prior AFX business day, unless the Committee on Benchmark Oversight determines that the circumstance constitutes an unforeseen exogenous event.

h) In the event that one of the components of the AMERIBOR® Term Structure rate is not available on a given day, the procedure for calculation will be as follows: the calculating agent will use other alternative AMERIBOR® market inputs that are available. If alternative AMERIBOR® market inputs are not available for purposes of calculation of the AMERIBOR® Term Structure rates, the calculation agent will go back a day until the relevant market inputs are obtained.

2.4.3 Committee on Participation

The Committee on Participation shall assess Exchange Rules related to participation in the exchange ("**Participation**") (excluding Exchange Rules related to Participation fees and dues) and make recommendations that further the objectives and well-being of the Exchange; make recommendations regarding approvals and non-approvals of new Exchange applications and new classes of Participants; make recommendations regarding potential new Exchange Participants and, as needed, make recommendations that Exchange Participation be revoked; and make recommendations regarding any changes to the standards and criteria for Participant eligibility.

2.4.4 Committee on Trading and Market Operations

The Committee on Trading and Market Operations shall assess market operations and make recommendations of measures to further enhance the fair and orderly operation of the AFX Markets; make recommendations regarding potential product and market enhancements, including proposed modifications to products specifications; and periodically assess the sufficiency of the AFX Standard Terms governing loans and other transaction terms.

2.4.5 Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution

The Committee on Compliance and Dispute Resolution shall provide advice regarding interpretation and clarification of Exchange Rules; receive and consider periodic market surveillance reports; and deliberate on and recommend the resolution of possible rule violations by Exchange Participants, including the acceptance of offers of settlement and the levying of penalties.

2.5 Exchange Liability

Except as provided under Applicable Law and Rules 2.5.1 and 3.12.2, and except in instances where there has been a finding of willful or wanton misconduct, gross negligence, bad faith or fraudulent or criminal acts, in which case the party found to have engaged in such willful or wanton misconduct, gross negligence, bad faith or fraudulent or criminal acts cannot invoke the protection of this Exchange Rule, neither the Exchange nor any of its managers, directors, officers, employees, Committee members, contractors, agents, limited liability company members, Service Providers, licensors or consultants, nor any of their respective affiliates (each, an "AFX Related **Person**"), shall have or incur any liability whatsoever to any Exchange Participant, any persons associated therewith, or any third parties related to any Exchange Participant or associated persons or their customers, or their respective agents, successors, assigns, or representatives, for any loss, damage, cost, claims or expense (including, but not limited to, indirect, incidental or consequential damages) that arise out of or are caused by the use of the facilities and services provided by, through or in respect to the Exchange, any orders entered or transactions executed through the Exchange, and any orders entered or transactions executed in futures contracts on AMERIBOR® rates traded on any other exchange, any interruption in or failure or unavailability of any such facilities or services, any transaction executed through the Exchange, any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Exchange with respect to the business of the Exchange or any Participant, any determination made by the Exchange or any AFX Related Person, or any information or data provided or withheld by the Exchange. Such limitation of liability shall apply to all claims, whether in contract, tort, negligence, strict liability or otherwise.

The Trading System and information made available as part of the Trading System is made available "as is" and without warranty of any kind (except for those set forth in Rule 3.15). All other warranties, conditions, representations, indemnities by AFX or its agents (including the Service Providers), affiliates or licensors, whether express, implied or statutory, arising by law, custom, prior oral or written statements by AFX, its directors, officers, employees, agents (including the Service Providers), affiliates, licensors or otherwise (including, but not limited to, any warranty of satisfactory quality, accuracy, uninterrupted use, timeliness, truthfulness, sequence, completeness, merchantability, fitness for particular purposes or non-infringement and any implied warranties arising from trade usage, course of dealing or course of performance) are hereby overridden, excluded and disclaimed.

Subject to the exceptions set forth above, no AFX Related Person shall have or incur any liability whatsoever to any Exchange Participant, any persons associated therewith or any third parties related to any Exchange Participant or associated persons or their customers, or their respective agents, successors, assigns, or representatives, for any loss, damage, cost or expense (including, but not limited to, indirect, incidental or consequential damages) incurred by the Exchange Participant or as a result of any failure, malfunction, fault, delay, omission, inaccuracy, interruption or termination of service in connection with the furnishing, performance, operation, maintenance or use of or inability to use all or any part of any Exchange systems. Such limitation of liability shall apply regardless of the cause of such systems' failure even if due to Exchange error, omission or negligence. Further, such limitation of liability shall apply to all claims, whether in contract, tort, negligence, strict liability or otherwise.

Additionally, subject to the exceptions set forth above, the Exchange, its managers, directors, officers, employees, agents, Service Providers, licensors and consultants shall have and incur no liability whatsoever for any errors or inaccuracies in information provided by any Exchange systems or for any losses resulting from unauthorized access or any other misuse of any system or facility of the Exchange by any person.

Subject to the exceptions set forth above, no AFX Related Persons shall be liable to any Exchange Participant or successors, representatives of customers thereof, or any persons associated therewith, for any loss, damages, claims or expenses: (1) arising out of the use of the AFX ETS, or trading in futures contracts on AMERIBOR[®] rates traded on any other exchange, or (2) arising from or occasioned by an inaccuracy, error, or delay in, or omissions of or from the collection, calculation, compilation, maintenance, reporting or dissemination of any information derived from the AFX ETS, resulting either from any act or omission by AFX or any AFX Related Person, including but not limited to any determination made by the Exchange or any AFX Related Person with respect to orders or transactions on the Exchange or any trading in futures contracts on AMERIBOR[®] rates on any other exchange, or from any act, condition or cause beyond the reasonable control of AFX or any AFX Related Person, including, without limitation, flood, extraordinary weather conditions, earthquake or other acts of God, fire, war, terrorism, insurrection, riot, labor dispute, accident, action of government, communications or power failure, or equipment of software malfunction.

Other than the exceptions to the Exchange's limitations on liability set forth in this Rule 2.5 (or otherwise in this Rulebook), each Exchange Participant expressly agrees, in consideration of its access to the AFX ETS, to release and discharge AFX and all AFX Related Persons of and from all claims and damages arising from (1) the Exchange Participant's acceptance and use of the system; (2) any enforcement of the AFX Rules, or (3) any penalty imposed by AFX, its board of directors, or any duly authorized agent (including any Service Provider) or committee.

2.5.1 Infringement

Except as provided in these Rules, AFX shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless each Exchange Participant, and its officers, directors, agents and employees, from and against damages, court costs and reasonable expenses incurred by any Exchange Participant or damages, reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and expenses awarded against Exchange Participant with respect to infringement of any third party intellectual property rights arising from such Exchange Participant's use of the Trading Platform as authorized in the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, or this Rulebook, provided that Exchange Participant has complied with all of its obligations under the User Agreement or Access Agreement and this Rulebook.; provided, <u>further</u>, that the indemnification amount shall in no event exceed \$75,000 ("Indemnification Limitation").

Subject in all cases to the Indemnification Limitation, AFX will select (subject to the consent of the indemnified party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), retain and pay for counsel who are experienced in the defense of such claims, and shall be responsible for payment of the costs and expenses of defending an Exchange Participant and/or negotiating any settlement on behalf of such Exchange Participant. AFX may not settle a claim on behalf of an Exchange Participant for any amount that exceeds the Indemnification Limitation unless (1) the relevant Exchange Participant consents in writing or (2) AFX determines to pay the amount in excess of the Indemnification Limitation itself. The indemnification provided under this Rule shall be each Exchange Participant's sole and exclusive remedy against AFX with respect to any third-party infringement claim.

If an Exchange Participant becomes aware of any infringement claim against it for which it intends to seek indemnification under this Rule, the Exchange Participant will notify AFX promptly of receiving notice of such claim (and in any event within forty-eight (48) hours) and shall tender to AFX the defense of such claim; provided, however, that the failure to give notice shall not affect the obligation of AFX to provide indemnification unless such failure prejudices AFX's right or ability to defend the claim. The notice from the Exchange Participant shall identify with reasonable specificity the alleged basis of the claim (including by identifying the intellectual property allegedly being infringed), the alleged facts giving rise to the claim, if known, and the alleged damages and other amounts being sought under the claim. In addition, Exchange Participant shall promptly transmit to AFX any documents referring to or setting forth the claim.

An Exchange Participant shall, at the sole expense of AFX (subject in all cases to the Indemnification Limitation), fully cooperate and assist AFX in the defense of such claim, including, but not limited to, attending depositions, providing access to any pertinent information, documents and personnel, and otherwise cooperating as reasonably required to defend such claim. The Exchange Participant may, in its sole discretion and at its own expense, retain other counsel. However, in such event, there shall be no reimbursement by AFX to the Exchange Participant, as

the case may be, for any attorneys' fee, costs, expenses or other charges incurred by Exchange Participant in connection with the services provided by such other counsel, and the right to control the defense and/or settlement of such claims shall remain with AFX.

2.6 Confidentiality

2.6.1 Exchange Participant Confidentiality Obligations

No Exchange Participant shall disclose or use for any purpose other than engaging in expressly authorized activities pursuant to these Rules any non-public Exchange Proprietary Information, all of which shall be treated as confidential information. For avoidance of doubt, this includes all information (such as all trade data and information contained in the AFX ETS) prior to the time, if any, that such information is made public by the Exchange. An Exchange Participant will not disclose, in whole or in part, the Exchange Proprietary Information to any person, except as specifically authorized under the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, and this Rulebook. An Exchange Participant may not disclose any data or compilations of data made available to the Exchange Participant by AFX, including the AMERIBOR[®] Rate or AMERIBOR[®] Rates prior to it being made public from time to time by the Exchange, without the express, prior written authorization of AFX.

No individual that is affiliated with an Exchange Participant and that serves as a member of any Committee shall use or disclose any material non-public information obtained in connection with such member's participation in such Committee for any purpose other than the performance of his or her official duties as a member of such Committee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Exchange Proprietary Information may be disclosed by a Participant to the extent the information:

- (i) was rightfully known to the receiving party prior to its receipt from AFX;
- (ii) is or becomes public knowledge through no fault of receiving party;
- (iii) is disclosed to receiving party by a third party with the right to disclose the information without restriction; or is disclosed to receiving party pursuant to a contractual requirement (such as a provision of an investment management agreement); or
- (iv) is required to be disclosed by receiving party to a governmental agency or other third party under operation of law, regulation, or court order, provided that receiving party notifies AFX in writing of any such disclosure obligation promptly upon its receipt (if so permitted by applicable law, rule, regulation or court order), and in any event prior to making any disclosure pursuant thereto, and provides such assistance in seeking a protective order or other appropriate relief as AFX may

reasonably request; provided, however, that the receiving party may make disclosures under this provision without giving prior notice to AFX to the extent such disclosures are commercially reasonable under the circumstances and so long as the receiving party provides AFX with notice of such disclosure as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

To the extent that an Exchange Participant has possession of or is aware of any "Information" (as such term is defined in the User Agreement or Access Agreement) other than Exchange Proprietary Information either pursuant to the terms of the User Agreement or otherwise lawfully obtained, AFX hereby authorizes the disclosure of such Information to the extent that such Information is required to be disclosed by Exchange Participant to a governmental agency or other third party under operation of law, regulation, or court order, provided that Exchange Participant notifies AFX in writing of any such disclosure obligation promptly upon its receipt (if so permitted by applicable law, rule, regulation or court order), and in any event prior to making any disclosure pursuant thereto, and provides such assistance in seeking a protective order or other appropriate relief as AFX may request; provided, however, that the Exchange Participant may make disclosures under this provision without giving prior notice to AFX to the extent notice of such disclosures is not practicable under the circumstances after reasonable best efforts by the Exchange Participant to provide such notice and so long as the Exchange Participant provides AFX with notice of such disclosure as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

2.6.2 AFX Confidentiality Obligations

AFX agrees that the information provided to AFX pursuant to the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, these Rules and the Trades contemplated thereby that is specifically identifiable to such Exchange Participant is confidential information relating to the Exchange Participant ("**Confidential Information**") and AFX agrees that it shall keep (and will cause its agents and Service Providers to keep) in confidence the Confidential Information using the same standard of care it uses to keep its own Confidential Information private, but no less than a reasonable standard of care, and not use that Confidential Information for any purpose other than the performance of its obligations or the exercise of its rights under the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, or this Rulebook, including, without limitation, to determine and calculate the AMERIBOR[®] Rate or AMERIBOR[®] Rates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, AFX may disclose the Confidential Information to the extent it is required to do so under operation of law, regulation or court order; provided, that AFX notifies the applicable Exchange Participant in writing of such disclosure obligation promptly upon its receipt (if so permitted by applicable law, rule, regulations, or court order) and in any event prior to making any disclosure pursuant thereto (unless prohibited by applicable law, rule, regulations, or court order).

AFX acknowledges that a breach of the confidentiality provisions of these Rules will result in serious and irreparable harm to the relevant Exchange Participant for which there is no adequate

remedy at law. In the event of such a breach by AFX, the relevant Exchange Participant shall be entitled to any temporary or permanent injunctive or other equitable relief in addition to any monetary damages hereunder.

2.7 Emergencies

The Exchange may adopt an Emergency regulation or resolution that shall supersede and supplant all contrary or inconsistent Exchange Rules, resolutions or rulings. Notice of the adoption of an Emergency regulation or resolution shall be promptly communicated to all Exchange Participants. An Emergency regulation or resolution shall expire once the Exchange rescinds the Emergency regulation or resolution.

All Exchange transactions and contracts shall be subject to such emergency regulations or resolutions.

The term "**Emergency**" shall include any circumstance in which an Emergency can in good faith be declared by the Exchange.

In the event of an Emergency, either the Chief Executive Officer, the President, or in their absence a member of the Board or another officer or authorized representative of the Exchange, is authorized to take such action as may be necessary or appropriate to promote a fair and orderly market, including, but not limited to: suspending trading; temporarily extending, limiting or changing the hours of trading; or extending trading hours.

2.8 New Rules and Amendments

2.8.1 Rulebook Changes

Changes to this Rulebook may be made from time to time in the sole and exclusive discretion of the Exchange, provided that any such change shall apply only to Trades and Loans entered into after the effective date of the change; provided, further, that the Exchange may not amend any provision in Rule 2.5 or Rule 3.12 without (i) the consent of a majority of the Exchange Participants (except in the case of changes that do not adversely affect the rights or obligations of any Exchange Participant thereunder), except, in the case of each of (i), (a) if required to do so under applicable law or regulation or (b) to correct obvious errors.

2.8.2 Notice of Rulebook Changes

At least two Business Days prior to the effective date of any addition to, or modification of, the Rules pursuant to Rule 2.8.1, the Exchange shall communicate in writing a notice to each Exchange Participant of such addition or modification, in a form and manner that is reasonably designed to enable each Exchange Participant to become aware of and familiar with, and to implement any necessary preparatory measures to be taken by it with respect to, such addition or

modification, prior to the effective date thereof; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, (i) so long as the Exchange uses reasonable best efforts to provide such prior notice, any failure of the Exchange to provide such notice shall not affect the effectiveness of the addition or modification, and, (ii) in the event of a good faith determination by the Exchange that it is necessary to maintain an orderly market or for any other exigency, then notice may be communicated in writing as soon as reasonably practicable following effectiveness of the rule change.

For purposes of such or any other Exchange communication, it shall be sufficient (without limiting the discretion of the Exchange as to any other reasonable means of communication) if notice is posted on the Exchange's website or sent by electronic mail (including by means of a hyperlink included in an electronic mail message) to a Participant's email address on record with the Exchange.

2.9 Regulation and Other Exchange Operations

The Exchange may enter into one or more agreements with one or more other organizations to provide regulatory, operational and other services to the Exchange to assist the Exchange in operating the AFX Markets. Such services may include, among other things: membership services relating to the on-boarding of prospective Exchange Participants (including the review of applications for completeness and applicant eligibility); operational and technology services; and legal and regulatory compliance services (including market surveillance services).

In case of matters occurring on the Exchange that may be worthy of further inquiry or investigation, the relevant Committee will be apprised of such matters and shall recommend appropriate action to the Executive Committee or the Board. Each Exchange Participant shall afford all necessary cooperation with respect to any inquiries, reviews or investigations undertaken by or on behalf of (i) the Exchange and its representatives, (ii) the Exchange's service provider Cboe Exchange, Inc. ("Cboe"); and (iii) the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC"), in connection with its responsibilities under the Commodity Exchange Act for oversight of the listing and trading of AMERIBOR[®] futures and AMERIBOR[®] futures options. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Exchange Participant shall respond to any such requests in a form and manner prescribed, and within the time frame designated, by the Exchange, Cboe, and / or the CFTC.

Any action taken by such other organization, or its employees or authorized agents, acting on behalf of the Exchange as the Provider of Operational Services shall be deemed to be an action taken by the Exchange. Any authority that may be exercised by the Exchange under Exchange Rules or otherwise may be delegated to and exercised to the same extent by the Provider of Operational Services.

2.10 Process for Disciplinary Action

All Exchange Participants are subject to this Section, including without limitation, if they are alleged to have violated, to have aided and abetted a violation, to be violating, or to have attempted to violate, any Rule of the Exchange or any provision of Applicable Law for which the Exchange possesses disciplinary jurisdiction.

2.10.1 Inquiries and Investigation

(a) The Exchange Compliance Department or its designated compliance agent ("Compliance Department") may investigate any matter within the Exchange's disciplinary jurisdiction that is brought to such Department's attention. The Compliance Department will determine the nature and scope of its inquiries and investigations within its sole discretion and will function independently of any commercial interests of the Exchange.

(b) The Compliance Department has the authority to:

(i) initiate and conduct inquiries and investigations;
(ii) prepare investigative reports and make recommendations concerning initiating disciplinary proceedings;
(iii) prosecute alleged violations within the Exchange's disciplinary jurisdiction; and
(iv) represent the Exchange on appeal from any disciplinary proceeding, summary imposition of fines, summary suspension or other summary action.

2.10.2 Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee

The Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will be comprised of three members, one of whom shall act as chairman and one of whom will serve as vice-chairman. The Committee will, pursuant to the procedures set forth in this chapter, review investigation reports submitted to it by the Compliance Department to determine (a) whether a reasonable basis exists to believe that a violation of a Rule of the Exchange has occurred and (b) whether commencing disciplinary proceedings in respect of such potential violation is warranted. The members of the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will be appointed by the Board for a term of one year.

2.10.3 Review of Investigative Reports

(a) The Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will review promptly each completed investigation report to determine whether a reasonable basis exists to believe that a violation within the Exchange's jurisdiction has occurred or has been attempted.

(b) If the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee determines that additional investigation or evidence is needed to decide whether a reasonable basis exists to believe that a violation within the Exchange's jurisdiction has occurred or has been attempted, the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will direct the Compliance Department to conduct further investigation.

(c) After receiving a completed investigation report, the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will determine for each potential respondent whether to authorize:

(i) the commencement of formal disciplinary proceedings because a reasonable basis exists to believe that a violation within the Exchange's jurisdiction has occurred or has been attempted;

(ii) the informal disposition of the investigation (by issuing a warning letter or otherwise) because the violation reasonably believed to have occurred or have been attempted within the Exchange's jurisdiction does not rise to a level of egregiousness to warrant formal disciplinary proceedings; or

(iii) the closing of the investigation without any action because formal or informal disciplinary proceedings are not warranted, or no reasonable basis exists to believe that a violation within the Exchange's jurisdiction has occurred or has been attempted.

(d) Any member of the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee must promptly recuse himself or herself and notify the General Counsel of the recusal if such member has a relationship with a potential respondent in an investigative report.

2.10.4 Convening Hearings of Disciplinary Proceedings

All disciplinary proceedings (except for summary impositions of fines pursuant) will be conducted at a hearing before the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee.

2.10.5 Conducting Hearings of Disciplinary Proceedings

(a) At a hearing conducted in connection with any disciplinary proceedings, the Compliance Department will present its case supporting the allegations and proposed sanctions in the notice of charges to the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee.

(b) At a hearing conducted in connection with any disciplinary proceedings, the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee or the Compliance Department and each respondent may:

(i) present evidence and facts determined relevant and admissible by the chairman of the Compliance and Dispute Resolution;

(ii) call and examine witnesses (including employees or agents of the Exchange that form part of the Compliance Department); and

(iii) cross-examine witnesses called by other parties.

2.10.6 Decision of Compliance and Dispute Resolution

(a) As promptly as reasonable following a hearing, the Committee will issue an order rendering its decision based on the weight of the evidence contained in the record of the disciplinary proceedings. A decision by a majority of the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee will constitute the decision.

(b) The Exchange will serve a copy of the order of the disciplinary proceedings on the respondent and the Compliance Department. The order will include:

(i) the notice of charges or summary of the allegations;

- 26 -

(ii) the answer, if any, or a summary of the answer;

(iii) a brief summary of the evidence introduced at the hearing;

(iv) findings of fact and conclusions concerning each allegation,

including each specific Rule of the Exchange and provision of Applicable Law that the respondent is found to have violated; and

(v) the imposition of sanctions, if any, and the effective date of each sanction.

2.10.7 Sanctions

(a) After notice and opportunity for hearing in accordance with these Rules, the Exchange will impose sanctions if a Member is found to have violated a Rule of the Exchange or provision of Applicable Law for which the Exchange possesses disciplinary jurisdiction. The Exchange may impose one or more of the following sanctions or remedies:

- (i) censure;
- (ii) limitation on Trading Privileges, or other activities, functions or operations;
- (iii) suspension of Trading Privileges;
- (iv) fines;
- (v) expulsion or termination of a Member within the Exchange's jurisdiction; or
- (vi) any other sanction or remedy deemed to be appropriate.

2.10.8 Costs

Regardless of the outcome of any disciplinary proceeding, the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee may order a respondent to pay some or all of the costs associated with the disciplinary proceedings, including costs that the Compliance and Dispute Resolution believes were unnecessarily caused by the respondent.

2.10.9 Appeal from Compliance and Dispute Resolution Decision

Each respondent found by the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee to have violated a Rule of the Exchange or a provision of Applicable Law may appeal the decision of the Compliance and Dispute Resolution Committee within seven (7) days of receiving the order of the disciplinary proceedings by filing a notice of appeal with the Secretary. While an appeal is pending, the effect of the order of disciplinary proceedings (including any sanctions, remedies or costs imposed thereby) is suspended.

Chapter III Exchange Participation

Each Exchange Participant is responsible for the trading conduct and financial obligations arising from its representatives serving as Authorized Traders.

Each Participant in the conduct of its business, shall observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles of trade.

3.1 Participation Classes

The two classes of Exchange Participation are (i) Bank Loan Market Participants; and (ii) Non-Bank Loan Market Participants. A Participant may qualify simultaneously for more than one Participation Class, but Participants must be separately considered and approved by the Exchange for each Participation Class.

3.1.1 Types of Market Participants

Participants may be Unsecured Market Participants only.

3.1.1.1 Unsecured Market Participants

An Unsecured Market Participant (as such) is authorized to participate solely in the Unsecured Market.

Bank Loan Market Participants consist only of eligible Banks. A Bank Loan Market Participant (as such) is a Loan Market Participant that is authorized to participate solely in the Loan Markets (the Unsecured Market).

AFX notes that, to the extent that a Loan settles on the same date as the Trade and matures on the following Business Day, any such Loan should be consistent with the definition of a "federal funds transaction" for purposes of the "Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income for a Bank with Domestic and Foreign Offices" published by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council. However, each Bank Participant is responsible for making its own institution-specific determination with respect to the categorization of any Loan for regulatory and reporting purposes.

Each Bank Loan Market Participant makes the following representation as of the date of its authorization as a Bank Loan Market Participant by the Exchange, and such representation is deemed to be repeated upon entering into any Loan pursuant to this Rulebook:

- (i) Participant is a Bank;
- (ii) Participant is regularly engaged, in the ordinary course of its business, in the making of loans for the purpose of providing short-term operational funding to the borrowers of such loans where such loans are made in the form of, and are

- 28 -

characterized and treated by the parties, for purposes of their books and records and any applicable regulatory requirements, as loans, and are not in the form of, and are not documented or characterized as, debt securities, noted, deposits or other types of investment transactions or instruments;

- (iii) When acting as a Lender, Participant has the capability of conducting, and does regularly conduct, due diligence, consistent with market practices of lenders, into the creditworthiness of the borrowers to which it extends loans and will conduct such due diligence with respect to the borrowers to which it extends loans through the AFX System;
- (iv) When acting as a Lender, Participant will enter into loans through the AFX System with the intention and for the purpose of holding such loans as whole loans, through the maturity of such loans;
- (v) When acting as a Lender, Participant will not in any way fractionalize, securitize or otherwise transfer or offer an interest in the loans entered into through the AFX System;
- (vi) When acting as a Borrower, Participant shall use the proceeds of any loans entered into pursuant to the AFX Rules for the purpose of obtaining short-term operational funding;
- (vii) Participant acknowledges that, except with respect to transactions in which it operates as a Correspondent Bank, acting as an agent for its Downstream Banks in accordance with Chapter IX, it is, and shall at all times be, principal to each Loan entered into by it through the AFX System and that no person, including any customer of such Participant, shall be in any privity with the relevant Borrower, nor shall the Borrower be obligated to any person other than the Participant, under any Loan entered into by the Participant as lending Participant;
- (viii) Participant acknowledges that any agreement with any person pursuant to which it acquires funds for the purposes of funding Loans through the AFX System shall be solely the responsibility of the Participant; provided, however, that no such agreement shall purport to grant any party to the agreement other than the Participant (A) status as a Participant, (B) access to the AFX System (directly, indirectly or otherwise) or (C) interest in any loans entered into by the Participant through the AFX System; and
- (ix) Participant shall at all times be responsible for the credit risk of any Borrower on the AFX System that borrows from the Participant and the Participant shall not in

any way pass through any credit risk or default costs to any person, including any customer of the Participant.

3.1.2 Non-Bank Loan Market Participants

- (a) Non-Bank Loan Market Participants consist only of certain types of entities identified in this Rule 3.1.2 and subject to the conditions herein. A Non-Bank Loan Market Participant (as such) is a Loan Market Participant that is authorized to participate solely in the Loan Markets subject to the requirements set forth in this Rules 3.1.2.
- (b) Each Non-Bank Loan Market Participant, that intends to act as a Lender, makes the following representations as of the date of its authorization as a Non-Bank Loan Market Participant by the Exchange, and such representations are deemed to be repeated upon entering into any Loan pursuant to this Rulebook:
 - (i) Participant is one of the following types of entities: (A) an insurance company subject to regulation as such under applicable laws and regulations, (B) a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as such (or an affiliate thereof); (C) a lender that is registered as such under Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; (D) a fund that relies on Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act for exemption from such Act that has as one of its primary purposes the making of loans; or (E) a "finance company" that is affiliated with a broker-dealer, corporation or financial institution and that is regularly engaged in the business of making loans; (F) an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended; (G) a corporation.
 - (ii) Participant is regularly engaged, in the ordinary course of its business, in the making of loans for the purpose of providing short-term operational funding to the borrowers of such loans where such loans are made in the form of, and are characterized and treated by the parties, for purposes of their books and records and any applicable regulatory requirements, as loans, and are not in the form of, and are not documented or characterized as, debt securities, notes, deposits or other types of investment transactions or instruments;
 - (iii) When acting as a Lender, Participant has the capability of conducting, and does regularly conduct, due diligence, consistent with market practices of lenders, into the creditworthiness of the borrowers to which it extends loans and will conduct such due diligence when acting as a Lender on the AFX System with respect to the Borrowers to which it extends Loans through the AFX System;

- (iv) When acting as a Lender, Participant will enter into loans through the AFX System with the intention and for the purpose of holding such loans as whole loans, through the maturity of such loans;
- (v) When acting as a Lender, Participant will not in any way fractionalize, securitize or otherwise transfer or offer an interest in the loans entered into through the AFX System;
- (vi) When acting as a Lender, Participant acknowledges that it is, and shall at all times be, principal to each Loan entered into by it through the AFX System and that no person, including any customer of such Participant, shall be in any privity with the relevant Borrower, nor shall the Borrower be obligated to any person other than the Participant, under any Loan entered into by the Participant as Lender;
- (vii) Participant acknowledges that any agreement with any person pursuant to which it acquires funds for the purposes of funding Loans through the AFX System shall be solely the responsibility of the Participant; *provided*, *however*, that no such agreement shall purport to grant any party to the agreement other than the Participant (A) status as a Participant, (B) access to the AFX System (directly, indirectly or otherwise) or (C) interest in any loans entered into by the Participant through the AFX System;
- (viii) Participant shall at all times be responsible for the credit risk of any Borrower on the AFX System that borrows from the Participant and the Participant shall not in any way pass through any credit risk or default costs to any person, including any customer of the Participant; and
- (ix) Participant shall not attempt to, nor shall it be permitted to, act as a Borrower under any Loan entered into pursuant to the AFX System, except as permitted in accordance with Rule 3.1.2(d).
- (c) Each Non-Bank Loan Market Participant, that intends to act as a Borrower, makes the following representations as of the date of its authorization as a Non-Bank Loan Market Participant by the Exchange, and such representations are deemed to be repeated upon entering into any Loan pursuant to this Rulebook:
 - (i) Participant is (A) an insurance company subject to regulation as such under applicable laws and regulations, (B) a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as such; or (C) a futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission as such; (D) a corporation.

- When acting as a Borrower, Participant shall use the proceeds of any loans entered into pursuant to the AFX Rules for the purpose of obtaining short-term operational funding; and
- (iii) Participant shall not attempt to, nor shall it be permitted to, act as a Lender under any Loan entered into pursuant to the AFX System, except in accordance with Rule 3.1.2(d).
- (d) To the extent that any Non-Bank Loan Market Participant does not satisfy the conditions in Rule 3.1.2(c) but does satisfy the conditions in Rule 3.1.2(b), such Non-Bank Loan Market Participant shall be authorized to act as a Lender but shall not be authorized to act as a Borrower. To the extent that any Non-Bank Loan Market Participant does not satisfy the conditions in Rule 3.1.2(b) but does satisfy the conditions in Rule 3.1.2(c), such Non-Bank Loan Market Participant shall be authorized to act as a Borrower but shall not be authorized to act as a Lender. If, and only if, a Non-Bank Loan Market Participant satisfies the conditions in both Rule 3.1.2(b) and Rule 3.1.2(c), such Non-Bank Loan Market Participant shall be authorized to act as both a Borrower and a Lender.

3.1.2.2 Insured Depository Institutions

An Exchange Participant that is an insured depository institution under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act it is further required: (i) from the date of entry into the User Agreement or Access Agreement to maintain the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, continuously as an official record (within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 1823(e) (or any successor provision thereto) of that Exchange Participant; and (B) from the date that a transaction is effected on the Exchange, maintain each agreement evidencing each such transaction continuously as an official record of that Exchange Participant.

3.1.3 Additional Participation Classes

The Exchange may from time to time authorize additional Participation Classes consistent with the goals and objectives of the Exchange. Exchange Participants may choose to either participate or not participate in such additional Participation Classes, subject to satisfaction of the eligibility criteria for any such Participation Class.

3.2 Eligibility for Participation

Any entity that satisfies the requirements provided in this Rulebook (and as may be otherwise established by the Exchange from time to time) and is found to be suitable by the Exchange to assume the obligations and privileges of Exchange Participation shall be eligible to become an Exchange Participant; provided, that such entity meets at least the following specific standards:

- 1. The entity shall be duly organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization; and
- 2. The entity shall be able to make the representations and warranties applicable to its Participation Class, including those relating to the type of entity that it is.

To become eligible and to maintain eligibility for Participation, each Exchange Participant shall be responsible for preparing and maintaining financial and other reports that may be required to be filed with the Exchange from time to time, and for ensuring the availability of an individual who is knowledgeable in relevant technical and financial matters to interact with representatives of the Exchange.

3.3 Participation Application

3.3.1 General Provisions

Each eligible entity desiring to become an Exchange Participant shall file with the Exchange an application for Exchange Participation in the form prescribed by the Exchange (together with any applicable initiation fee in such amount as is specified by the Exchange from time to time), and such supporting financial documents, agreements, contracts and other information as the Exchange may require.

Notice of the Exchange's decision with respect to an application shall generally be delivered within thirty (30) Business Days of the date that the complete application has been received and all followup inquiries have been completed to the Exchange's satisfaction. The Exchange shall disseminate notice to other Exchange Participants of the approval of each new Exchange Participant. Upon being accepted by the Exchange as an Exchange Participant, the Exchange shall execute, and the Participant shall become bound by, the User Agreement (including the terms, obligations and conditions of this Rulebook). The User Agreement and this Rulebook shall govern the rights and obligations between the Exchange and the Exchange Participant.

3.3.2 Maintenance of Eligibility

Each Exchange Participant shall at all times meet the standards of Participation eligibility set forth in this Rulebook and in the application for Exchange Participation. Each Exchange Participant shall immediately notify the Exchange in writing about any material change in any information contained in its application for Exchange Participation. Each Exchange Participant shall immediately notify the Exchange in writing upon becoming aware of any event that may impact its Exchange Participation eligibility or that could be the basis of denial of Participation as specified herein or in the Participation application. In addition, by signing the User Agreement, becoming an Exchange Participant and entering Orders into the AFX System, each Participant agrees that is shall submit Orders, enter into Loans and otherwise use the AFX System in accordance with any and all Applicable Law.

- 33 -

3.3.3 Denial of Participation

The Exchange may determine, in its sole discretion and for any reason, to deny an eligible applicant's request for Participation, or limit its Participation, on the Exchange.

3.3.4 Settlement of Loans and Other Transactions

Each Exchange Participant shall be solely responsible for ensuring that all of its obligations under any Loan and any other transaction (such as demand deposits) to which it is party are satisfied, including any obligation to fund or repay under the Loan and Other Transaction. Such obligations shall include, but not be limited to, any and all obligations set forth in Section 4.6 below. The Exchange has the authority and the right to audit the wiring instructions of Exchange Participants and is authorized to request confirmations of Fed and other bank wires that were sent and received and other supporting documentation as necessary to verify that Exchange Participants funded Loans and Other Transactions that were executed on the Exchange and that such funded Loans and Other Transactions were repaid with interest per the terms of the Loan(s) and Other Transaction(s).

3.3.5 Unsecured Market Counterparty Authorization and Limits

Each Participant in an Unsecured Market upon registration with the Exchange and from time to time thereafter, shall identify (i) the Borrowers to which the Participant agrees to lend funds in the AFX Unsecured Markets, and (ii) Unsecured Lending Limits, by product, with respect to each such Borrower.

3.4 Privileges

3.4.1 Authorized Traders

Each Exchange Participant shall be provided access, consistent with Exchange Rules set forth herein, to the AFX Trading Platform for the purpose of viewing and entering Orders into the AFX ETS.

Each Exchange Participant may authorize any of its employees to act as Authorized Traders. No Exchange Participant may employ a contracted agent to act as Authorized Trader on its account. A Participant's appointment of an Authorized Trader must have been duly authorized and approved pursuant to that Exchange Participant's internal authorization procedures and policies with respect to such matters.

Exchange Participants shall authorize one or more qualified persons to serve as the Authorized Traders in the AFX Loan Markets on behalf of the AFX Participant. These Authorized Traders are the only Participant representatives that may enter Orders for their respective Participant entities into the AFX ETS. At least one Authorized Trader in each applicable AFX Market shall be

available via telephone at all times during trading hours on a day in which the Exchange Participant is making Bid Orders and Offer Orders in the relevant markets.

With respect to each Authorized Trader, the relevant Exchange Participant shall:

- (1) guarantee and assume complete financial and all other responsibility for all activity related to the AFX Trading System that such Authorized Trader has engaged in, and with respect to any account identifier and password assigned to such Authorized Trader;
- (2) assist the Exchange in any investigation relating to an alleged violation of Applicable Law, regulations or Rules of the Exchange, which assistance shall be timely and shall include requiring such Authorized Trader to produce documents, answer questions by the Exchange or appear in connection with such investigation; and
- (3) ensure that any Authorized Trader that is a Designated Exchange Participant complies with the restrictions on trading set forth in Rule 3.5(5) and in the policies and procedures of such Participant required under such Rule.

The Exchange may at any time revoke, suspend, limit, condition, restrict or qualify the activities of the Authorized Trader of any Exchange Participant if, in the sole discretion of the Exchange, such action is in the best interest of the Exchange.

3.5 Supervision of Employees

Each Exchange Participant shall diligently supervise all activities of its employees relating to transactions effected on the Exchange or subject to Exchange Rules. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

- (1) each Exchange Participant shall continue to have at all times at least one Senior Supervisory Officer who is responsible for such supervision, and shall promptly advise the Exchange of any change in the name, title, address, phone number, fax number or e-mail address of each such officer;
- (2) each Exchange Participant shall be responsible for training (or causing to be trained) its employees regarding Exchange Rules and the proper use of the Trading System;
- (3) each Exchange Participant on demand shall furnish to the Exchange a list of all Authorized Traders of such Participant, giving the name, location and trader identification (as prescribed by the Exchange); and
- (4) each Exchange Participant may designate at least one Credit Risk Manager.

- 35 -

(5) each Exchange Participant shall maintain procedures and a supervisory system to ensure that no Designated Exchange Participant will transact for his or her own personal account or benefit, or for the personal account or benefit of any third party in any exchange listed derivatives that are based on the AMERIBOR[®] Rate, AMERIBOR[®] Rates, or other Exchange benchmarks including but not limited to AMERIBOR[®] futures and AMERIBOR[®] futures options.

3.6 Provision of Information to the Exchange

Each Exchange Participant shall generate and submit such additional documents, data and reports to the Exchange at such times and containing such information and in such form as the Exchange may from time to time prescribe. Each Exchange Participant shall, in a timely fashion, furnish such information as may from time to time be requested by any representatives of the Exchange, including any Service Provider, acting in the course of their duties.

3.6.1 Addresses and Contact Information

Each AFX Participant shall file with the Exchange and keep current:

- (1) an address (both for U.S. mail and for electronic messages, or email) where notices may be delivered; and,
- (2) the name and contact details of an employee with primary responsibility for liaison with the Exchange. Each Exchange Participant shall timely inform the Exchange of any change with respect to such designated employee or address.

3.6.2 Provision of Information to the Exchange Pursuant to Loan Validation Request

From time to time, at a frequency set by the Exchange, the Exchange, and, to the extent reasonably necessary to ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, Cboe, and/or the CFTC, may request documentation from any Exchange Participant for the purpose of validating that a loan entered into on the AFX Markets was funded and/or repaid pursuant to the rules set forth herein. Exchange Participants shall be required to respond to any such requests for information, inquiries, reviews or investigations in a form and manner prescribed, and within the time frame designated by the Exchange, Cboe, and / or the CFTC, as applicable. Any failure by an Exchange Participant to do so shall be deemed a violation of AFX Rules.

3.7 Fees and Payments

The Exchange shall have the sole authority to set the dates and amounts of any dues, assessments or fees to be levied on Exchange Participants or activity on the Exchange, which dues, assessments

or fees shall be paid to the Exchange when due. Such dues, assessments or fees may include (but are not limited to):

- Initial participation fee
- Annual dues
- Transaction fees
- Regulatory fees, in each case notified in advance to all Exchange Participants

The Exchange shall have the authority to waive any such dues, assessments or fees, or to offer discounts for any defined class of Exchange Participation and may waive or offer discounts from any such dues, assessments or fees based on any criteria determined by the Exchange to be appropriate. The Exchange may modify the fee structure from time to time at its discretion.

If an Exchange Participant fails to timely pay any Exchange dues, assessments, installments or fees, such Exchange Participant's Participation eligibility may, in the Exchange's sole discretion, be suspended, terminated or otherwise limited.

3.8 Prohibited Conduct

3.8.1 Exchange Participants

No Exchange Participant shall:

- (1) disseminate any false, misleading or inaccurate information, including reports concerning any Orders, Trades, Loans or AMERIBOR[®] Rates effectuated on or through the Exchange or market information or conditions that affect or tend to affect the price of any instrument traded on the Exchange;
- (2) (i) materially alter the information or data supplied to or received from the AFX ETS, (ii) materially affect the integrity of the information or data supplied to or received from the System, or (iii) supply or render information or data to or from the System that is illegal, inaccurate, unfair, uninformative, fictitious, misleading or discriminatory;
- (3) permit its employees or agents to interfere with or adversely affect the AFX ETS or any use thereof by any other authorized individuals or entities.
- (4) manipulate, or attempt to manipulate, the price (or rate) of any instrument traded on the Exchange;
- (5) furnish false or misleading information to, or fail to furnish information when requested by, any representative of the Exchange acting in the course of their duties;

- (6) make any materially false or misleading representation to the Exchange or in connection with its use of the AFX ETS;
- (7) violate or fail to conform to the Rules of the Exchange;
- (8) enter any bids, offers or transactions into the Exchange Trading System when such Participant knows that it is insolvent, within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws, federal or state, domestic or foreign, without the prior written approval of the Exchange;
- (9) violate, or fail to comply in a timely manner with, the terms of any agreement between the Exchange Participant and the Exchange, or of any order or decision of the Exchange;
- (10) enter bids or offers into the Trading System other than in good faith for the purpose of executing transactions, or make any bid or offer for the purpose of establishing a market price which does not reflect the true state of the market;
- (11) knowingly enter into a transaction on the Exchange that is a wash sale or any other similar transaction entered into for the purpose of manipulating the market;
- (12) knowingly engage in conduct or practices inconsistent with just and equitable principles of trade or conduct or practices detrimental to the best interests of the Exchange;
- disclose confidential information obtained in the course of proceedings of an Exchange Committee, hearing or investigation, or by virtue of having access to the AFX ETS;
- (14) engage in conduct with Exchange Participants, officers, staff, vendors, Service Providers, managers or directors in any manner that is inconsistent with high standards of professional and personal decorum;
- (15) submit Orders, enter into Loans and otherwise use the AFX System other than in accordance with any and all Applicable Law; or
- (16) engage in conduct that could compromise or cause harm to the Trading System or the facilities of the Exchange;

(17) engage in transactions outside of the AFX electronic trading platform with other AFX Exchange Participants that were introduced to the Exchange Participant as a result of the Exchange Participant's membership in the Exchange and with which the Exchange Participant did not have a pre-existing relationship.

3.8.2 Designated Exchange Participants

No Designated Exchange Participant shall:

(1) transact for his or her own personal account or benefit or for the personal account or benefit of any third party in any exchange listed derivatives that are based on the AMERIBOR[®] Rate, AMERIBOR[®] Rates, or other Exchange benchmarks including but not limited to AMERIBOR[®] futures and AMERIBOR[®] futures options.

3.9 Exchange Rule Violations

Exchange Participants or any person associated with an Exchange Participant who is alleged to have violated, or aided and abetted a violation of, any provision of Exchange Rules or any interpretation thereof, or resolutions of the Exchange regulating the conduct of business or any other activities on or through the use of the facilities of the Exchange, shall be subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Exchange and may be appropriately disciplined in accordance with Exchange Rules and any other disciplinary guidelines utilized by the Exchange from time to time.

A Participant shall report all instances of possible violations of Exchange Rules to the Exchange. The Exchange may (but shall not be required to) in its sole discretion initiate or cause to be initiated an investigation in accordance with Exchange policies and procedures governing investigations.

After completion of any such investigation, the Exchange shall render a written decision based upon the weight of the evidence contained in the record of the proceeding and shall provide a copy to the respondent. The decision shall include a description of the disciplinary action taken. Disciplinary sanctions, if any, shall be determined and imposed in the sole discretion of the Exchange. An Exchange Participant shall have the right to appeal any disciplinary action, including the imposition of sanctions or fines, through the dispute resolution process set forth in Rule 3.13.

3.10 Termination

The Participation of any Exchange Participant may be terminated, suspended or limited at any time by the Exchange if the Exchange determines in its sole discretion that such action is in the best interests of the Exchange. Any such termination, suspension or limitation shall not affect the rights or obligations of such Exchange Participant with respect to any outstanding Loan. Any Exchange Participant may be expelled from Participation if the Exchange shall determine that such Participant no longer meets the eligibility standards for Participation or that events have taken place that constitute causes for denial of continued Participation as determined by the Exchange. An Exchange Participant shall have the right to appeal any termination, suspension, limitation or expulsion through the dispute resolution process set forth in Rule 3.13.

- 39 -

Each entity whose status as an Exchange Participant has been terminated shall immediately notify the Exchange of any change in its address as most recently reported to the Exchange for a period of one year following the effective date of such termination.

The Exchange is authorized to take summary action to suspend or terminate the Participation of an Exchange Participant pursuant to this rule when immediate action is necessary to protect the best interests of the Exchange.

When an Exchange Participant that has had its Participation has had its authority terminated, suspended or otherwise limited, the Exchange shall provide notice thereof to Participants.

Where an Exchange Participant fails or refuses to perform under the terms of a Trade or to pay or perform any of its obligations arising out of such Trade to another Exchange Participant, the defaulting Exchange Participant may be sanctioned, including with suspension for so long as the Exchange determines appropriate.

If it appears to the Exchange that an Exchange Participant is insolvent, cannot demonstrate its ability to achieve compliance with Exchange Rules, or is or may be in such financial condition that it cannot continue in business with safety to its customers, its creditors, or the Exchange, the Exchange may impose any restriction upon the operations of the Exchange Participant it may deem appropriate in the circumstances.

Each Exchange Participant failing or refusing to comply promptly with a restriction imposed by the Exchange shall be subject to sanction, which may include suspension of all privileges, or termination of Participation or authorization.

In any circumstance, the Exchange may impose any remedy or take any action that it deems reasonable to promote the interests of the Exchange and preserve a fair and orderly market.

3.11 Application of Rules and Jurisdiction

By accessing, or entering any Order into, the Trading System and without any need for any further action, undertaking or agreement, each Exchange Participant agrees:

- (1) to be bound by, and comply with, the Rules of the Exchange; and,
- (2) to become subject to the jurisdiction of the Exchange with respect to any and all matters arising from, related to, or in connection with, the status, actions or omissions of or on behalf of the Exchange Participant.

Each Exchange Participant whose privileges are revoked or terminated shall remain bound by the Rules of the Exchange and subject to the jurisdiction of the Exchange with respect to any and all matters arising from, related to, or in connection with, the status, actions or omissions of or on behalf of such Exchange Participant prior to such revocation or termination.

3.12 Indemnification

3.12.1 Exchange Participant Indemnification

With regard to any legal proceeding brought against the Exchange (and/or any of its Service Providers) alleging its failure to prevent, detect or require certain conduct of an Exchange Participant, which conduct or inaction is determined by the Exchange, in its reasonable discretion, to be in violation of any Rule of the Exchange, then such Exchange Participant shall indemnify and hold the Exchange (and/or any of its Service Providers) harmless for the full amount of any expense (including attorneys' fees), judgment or settlement paid by it in respect to such proceeding.

Each Exchange Participant will indemnify, defend and hold AFX and its directors, officers, employees, agents, Service Providers, contractors, committee members and affiliates harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, costs, expenses, obligations, liabilities, damages, recoveries, and deficiencies, including interest, penalties, and attorneys' fees, arising from or as a result of Exchange Participant's breach of its obligations under the User Agreement (or Access Agreement, as the case may be), or this Rulebook, or otherwise from its use of the facilities or services provided by, through or in respect to the Exchange.

3.12.2 AFX Indemnification

In addition to the indemnification obligation is Rule 2.5.1, AFX will indemnify, defend and hold Exchange Participant and its directors, officers, employees, agents, service providers, contractors, and affiliates harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, costs, expenses, obligations, liabilities, damages, recoveries, and deficiencies, including interest, penalties, and attorneys' fees, arising from or as a result of: AFX's breach of its obligations under the User Agreement or Access Agreement, as the case may be, this Rulebook or the Account Operating Agreement that is a result of AFX's gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, that AFX's liability under the foregoing indemnification obligations shall be limited to the Indemnification Limitation.

The foregoing indemnification obligations are conditioned on the Exchange Participant providing AFX with prompt written notice of the claim of which it has notice for which indemnity is claimed, giving AFX sole control of the defense thereof and any related settlement negotiations, and reasonably cooperating and assisting (at AFX's sole expense) with AFX efforts to defend or settle the claim; <u>provided</u>, that AFX shall not settle any claim for an amount that is greater than the Indemnification Limitation without the consent of the relevant Exchange Participant, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; <u>provided</u>, further, that, if the relevant Exchange Participant withholds such consent reasonably, such Exchange Participant shall be required to take over the defense of such claim (or any related settlement negotiations) and AFX's liability with respect to such claim or negotiations shall continue to be limited to the Indemnification Limitation.

3.13 Dispute Resolution

Notwithstanding any other provision of Exchange Rules, any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Rulebook, or any other dispute concerning the operation of the Exchange, including appeals of disciplinary actions, shall, at the election of the Exchange and in the Exchange's sole discretion, be settled exclusively by arbitration, conducted before a panel of three arbitrators, sitting in a location selected by mutual agreement within the City of Chicago, Illinois in accordance with the rules for commercial arbitration of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. A determination made by arbitration pursuant to this paragraph shall be final and binding upon the parties. Notwithstanding the agreement to arbitrate such disputes and controversies, the Exchange shall be entitled to enforce, in any court of competent jurisdiction, any Participant's compliance with any restrictive covenant or confidentiality provision applicable to, or contained in, this Rulebook to the fullest extent permitted by law by seeking any remedy available at law or in equity, including, but not limited to, a temporary restraining order, injunction, and specific performance, without having to arbitrate and without need to post a bond to do so.

3.14 Withdrawal by an Exchange Participant

Unless otherwise permitted by the Exchange, an Exchange Participant may terminate and withdraw from Participation on the Exchange at any time upon two (2) Business Days' notice to AFX, provided that such Participant has no Loans outstanding, as recorded in the AFX ETS, either as borrower or lender, at the time of its termination and withdrawal. A Participant that has tendered such notice to AFX may discontinue its participation in AFX Markets two (2) Business Days thereafter, however such Participant must still provide such documentation of the settlement of funding and repayment as required pursuant to Rule 4.6 either as borrower or lender, at the time of its termination and withdrawal. Notwithstanding the termination and withdrawal, (A) the limitations on liability, indemnities and representations and warranties, the confidentiality requirements with respect to either party's Confidential Information contained in the Participant Application, User Agreement and these Rules shall survive such termination and withdrawal, (B) the provisions of the Rules and the User Agreement shall continue to apply to any Loan previously entered into by the withdrawing Exchange Participant and (C) the withdrawing Participant shall continue to be bound by its financial obligations to the Exchange relating to its activity on the Exchange prior to its termination and withdrawal, including with respect to transaction fees and any fines or other financial sanctions imposed on the withdrawing Participant (regardless of when such fine or financial sanction was actually imposed).

3.15 AFX Representations, Warranties and Covenants

AFX represents, warrants and covenants to each Exchange Participant that: (i) AFX is a licensor or owner of, or, to the best of its knowledge, otherwise has the rights to use, the AFX ETS and all intellectual property contained therein and, in any event, to the best of its knowledge, has the right to permit Exchange Participants to access and use the AFX ETS in connection with the operation

- 42 -

of the Exchange; (ii) AFX shall make reasonable efforts to ensure access to the AFX ETS by Exchange Participants and the orderly functioning of the AFX Markets; (iii) AFX shall make reasonable efforts to maintain the AFX ETS in accordance with industry standards for similarly situated electronic markets in all material respects; and (iv) AFX shall take reasonable steps to utilize security features and protocols that, to the best of AFX's knowledge, are designed to be consistent with industry standards in all material respects and are reasonably designed to protect against unauthorized access to the AFX ETS. Any liability for any breach of the representations, warranties and covenants in this Rule 3.15 shall be subject to the limitation on liabilities in Rule 2.5.

Chapter IV Trading and Market Operations

4.1 General Provisions

All trading activities of each Participant on the Exchange, including the submission of Orders and the execution of Trades, shall be subject to this Rulebook and the AFX Platform Users' Manual in all respects. Each Participant shall be responsible for ensuring that its activities on the Exchange conform to and comply with the requirements of this Rulebook and the AFX Platform Users' Manual.

This Chapter IV shall apply to the trading and market operations of all AFX Markets unless otherwise noted. Solely in order to ensure a fair and orderly market and without prejudice to any specific Exchange Participant, the Exchange may, as necessary, take steps that are explicitly set forth, implied by, or absent from these Exchange Rules, including unwinding or modifying Trades (and, as applicable, voiding *ab initio* the Standard Terms agreement governing the Loan that would otherwise arise from such Trade) as determined in the sole discretion of the Exchange.

4.2 The AFX Markets

The Exchange may operate, at its discretion, any of the following markets: an Unsecured Market, the AFX Markets in operation shall be the Unsecured Market. Additionally, the Exchange shall operate other markets at its discretion. The products listed on any or all of the AFX Markets shall be determined at the discretion of the Exchange.

The AFX ETS shall be accessible via a secure Internet connection using procedures provided by AFX. The Exchange may authorize on a limited basis view-only access to certain potential Participants for the purpose of marketing and business development.

4.3 Product Specifications

For each product listed on an AFX Market, a product specification and any additional communications the Exchange deems appropriate with respect to such product will be made available to AFX Participants via the AFX website or in any other manner deemed appropriate by the Exchange from time to time.

For each product listed on an AFX Market, standardized loan terms will be established by the Exchange in the form of the Standard Terms contained as an appendix hereto. Each Loan resulting from a Trade will be deemed to have been entered into in accordance with the terms of such AFX Standard Terms, which terms shall be solely between the Lender and the Borrower. For avoidance of doubt, the Exchange shall not be a party to, and shall have no duties or obligations with respect to or under, any Loan effectuated through the AFX ETS.

4.4 Orders

The AFX ETS supports the entry of Orders. The Exchange shall, at its discretions, create and implement new Order types for use in AFX Markets.

4.4.1 Order Entry Procedures

Each entered Order shall be a limit order that shall remain active on the AFX ETS until cancelled, executed, or expired at the close of the trading session.

Each Order submitted in any AFX Market, with respect to each product, shall include at least the following order parameters:

- (i) Side (lending or borrowing);
- (ii) Size or amount (in trade lot increments of one million United States dollars); and
- (iii) Price or interest rate (expressed as a percent to five decimal points).

4.4.2 Partial Fills

The AFX ETS supports partial filling (execution) of orders. If there is residual quantity following a partial fill, the residual quantity remains active as an Order in the AFX ETS and retains the same price/time priority.

4.4.3 Crossed or Locked Markets

Crossed or locked markets may occur and continue indefinitely in an AFX Market under certain circumstances, including without limitation when the Lender between two Participants that have entered otherwise executable Orders into the AFX ETS has not approved the Borrower for Trades, when the applicable lending limit between such two Participants has been reached, or when the Minimum Offer Price Limit by Counterparty functionality prevents a match from occurring.

4.4.4 Unsecured Lending Limit Specifications

A Participant may designate a unique Unsecured Lending Limit amounts aggregated by individual product (i.e., Product Lending Limits) or all products (i.e., Aggregate Lending Limits), with respect to each pre-approved Borrower. A Participant's Unsecured Lending Limit functionality shall be managed by the Participant's Credit Risk Manager pursuant to procedures established by the Exchange. A Lender's Unsecured Lending Limits are configurable by Borrower and by individual product or all products. At any time, for purposes of calculating the amount of a Participant's outstanding Unsecured Loans to a given counterparty with respect to a given product or products, the aggregate amount of the Participant's outstanding Unsecured Lending Limit with respect to the counterparty shall (i) decrease immediately upon the commitment to lend to such counterparty pursuant to an Unsecured Trade occurring on the AFX ETS, and (ii) increase (x) upon repayment of an outstanding Unsecured Loan by such counterparty, which shall be assumed by

- 45 -

the AFX ETS to occur upon the date of scheduled repayment of the outstanding Unsecured Loan by such counterparty (even if in fact repayment is not timely made), and (y) at such time as, and in the amount that, an Unsecured Loan described in clause (i) is not successfully settled at the end of the trading day (which shall only be deemed to have happened if AFX receives notice of such failure to settlement pursuant to Rule 4.6 below) or is busted in accordance with Rule 4.5.5.3 or 4.5.7. For avoidance of doubt, the aggregate amount of a Participant's outstanding Unsecured Loans with respect to a Borrower shall not increase as a result of any borrowing of funds by such Participant from such Borrower.

The Exchange shall have the discretion at any time to limit the amount loaned or borrowed by any one Participant, through any individual Loan or in the aggregate, if the Exchange in its sole discretion believes such action to be necessary or advisable in the best interests of the Loan Market and Participants, provided that the Exchange shall have no obligation to take any such action, and no obligation to monitor the amount loaned or borrowed by any Participant, or to take into account the interests or circumstances of any particular Participant. Each Participant shall be solely responsible for its own decisions with respect to each transaction entered into through the Exchange and for its own compliance with Applicable Law and its internal policies and procedures, and the Exchange shall have no responsibility therefor.

4.4.5 Minimum Offer Price Limit by Counterparty Functionality

A Participant may designate a unique minimum offer price with respect to each Unsecured Market product and each pre-approved Borrower ("**Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty**"). A Participant's Minimum Offer Price Limit by Counterparty functionality shall be managed by the Participant's Credit Risk Manager pursuant to procedures established by the Exchange.

With use of the Minimum Offer Price Limit by Counterparty functionality, a Lender's Offer Order will execute against a Borrower's Bid Order only if the Bid Order is priced *at or above* the Lender's minimum offer price established by the Lender with respect to that Borrower and for that specific product. If the price of the Bid Order is below the minimum offer price established by the Lender, the Orders will not execute. A Participant's Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty are configurable both by Borrower and by product.

Changes to a Participant's Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty may be made intra-day. By default, all Unsecured Market relationships will default to having no minimum offer price; until adjusted by its Credit Risk Manager, the Trading System will allow Lenders to lend to approved Borrowers without reference to a minimum offer price limit. A Participant's Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty that have been entered into the Trading System will remain static and valid until subsequently modified and will not expire or adjust according to market conditions. Participants are solely responsible for inputting and managing according to market conditions their Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty. A Participant must have designated to the Exchange a Credit Risk Manager in order to be authorized to utilize the Minimum Offer Price Limits by Counterparty functionality.

4.5 Trading

4.5.1 Daily Close Price

The Exchange in its sole discretion shall compute a daily close price for each AFX Market. The Exchange will determine the methodology in its reasonable discretion. The daily close price will be the basis for computation of daily price limits in AFX Loan Markets.

4.5.2 Daily Loan Market Price Limit

The Exchange will adopt from time to time an appropriate measure to compute a daily price limit for each product in the Loan Markets. The Exchange will determine the methodology in its reasonable discretion.

During open market trading, only Orders that are within the price limit are valid orders. Bid (offer) Orders that are sought to be entered above (below) the daily price limit will be rejected by the AFX ETS as invalid.

4.5.3 Daily Price Limit for Overnight Unsecured AMERIBOR[®] Loan Market

The daily price limit for the Overnight Unsecured AMERIBOR[®] loan market will be a percentage range above and below the transaction volume-weighted average AMERIBOR[®] rate that is calculated after the close of each trading session and the range will be effective for the following day's trading session.

The range will be established with the advice of the AFX Trading and Market Operations Committee and may be modified at any time to allow for orderly markets at the discretion of the Exchange or in the case of exogenous events such as natural disasters, extreme political events or other Acts of God. The initial daily percentage range and any other subsequent modifications will be published as an Exchange circular.

The Exchange will adjust the price limit range based on interest rate increases and / or decreases as a result of Federal Open Market Committee policy. Such resulting adjustments to the price limit range will be communicated to all Members by Exchange Circular.

4.5.4 Trading Hours

Trading hours for AFX Markets shall be specified by the Exchange from time to time and communicated to Exchange Participants. All times specified by the Exchange will be based on the

time zone within which Chicago, Illinois is located. The Unsecured Market trading hours shall be from 7:00 a.m. Central Time to Close of Market.

AFX shall from time to time communicate a holiday schedule for the AFX Markets as well as adjustments to the Close of Market, as applicable.

4.5.5 Trade Execution

4.5.5.1 Order Prerequisites

With respect to a listed product, a Trade shall be executed on the AFX ETS when and to the extent:

- (i) There exists a Bid Order with a bid rate and bid quantity and an Offer Order with an offer rate and offer quantity;
- (ii) The bid rate is equal to or greater than the offer rate or the offer rate is equal to or less than the bid rate;
- (iii) The Lender has approved the Borrower as an acceptable Borrower; and
- (iv) The applicable risk parameters relating to the Offer Order and the Bid Order (such as the Lender's lending limit, Minimum Offer Limit Price by Counterparty, and any other applicable trade parameters) are not exceeded.

4.5.5.2 Price/Time Priority

Except as otherwise noted, all Orders entered with respect to any product are time stamped at the time of order entry or modification and matched for execution based on a first in/first out price and time priority basis. Orders are matched for execution on the basis that the best priced Order always has the highest priority. If multiple Orders have the same best price, then the highest priority will be given to the Order that was first entered into the AFX ETS. The best price for an offer to sell Order is the lowest price (interest rate) and the best price for a bid to buy Order is the highest price (interest rate).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, when a lending (borrowing) Participant that has entered an otherwise executable Order into the AFX ETS has not approved (has not been approved by) Borrower (Lender), or when the applicable lending limit between such two Participants has been reached, then such otherwise executable Orders shall not be matched for execution against each other, and Orders entered into the AFX ETS with inferior price/time priority may thereafter be matched for execution.

When an executable Order is entered into the AFX ETS at a bid (offer) price that is higher (lower) than an offer (bid) Order that is resting in the book (i.e., the latter Order was previously entered

into the AFX ETS and not filled or cancelled), the price of the resulting execution shall be the price of the resting Order.

An Order resting in the book (i.e., an Order that was previously entered into the AFX ETS and not filled or cancelled) that has been modified shall be considered as an Order that was cancelled and replaced by a new Order, and such modified (new) Order will therefore not retain the price/time priority of the original Order.

4.5.5.3 Trade Confirmations

Details of each executed Order will be recorded by the AFX ETS, and a Trade confirmation that reflects the material terms of the Trade will be communicated to the relevant Participants; provided, however, that any failure to deliver or receive such Trade confirmation shall not affect the validity or terms of the Trade, which shall be definitively determined as and when reflected in the AFX ETS. The terms set forth in the AFX ETS and reflected in a Trade confirmation shall be determinative and binding on each Participant, subject to AFX's right to unwind or cancel a Trade at the mutual written request of the two relevant Exchange Participants or may require the acceleration of a Trade as a means to unwind a trade in order to maintain a fair and orderly market (as determined in AFX's discretion). Failure, delay or errors contained in any such confirmation shall not invalidate the execution. If two Participants in any AFX Market who are matched to a Trade intend to declare that Trade bust (and therefore cancelled and *void ab initio*), those two Participants' mutual written request for a Trade bust must be received by AFX not later than fifteen (15) minutes after Close of Market on the date of the Trade and prior to funds being transferred. In the case of a Trade bust due to AFX system error or mutual agreement of the Participants, the Standard Terms relating to such busted Trade may be deemed *void ab initio* (provided that funds have not been transferred) or otherwise unwound (through acceleration or similar methods) by the Exchange. Participants acknowledge that AFX's ability to bust or unwind Trades or Loans is limited as a result of settlement of Loans occurring outside of the AFX System.

4.5.5.4 Effect of Execution

Upon a Bid Order and an Offer Order being matched in the AFX ETS, the Trade shall give rise to a Loan with the Participant submitting the Bid Order being the Borrower and the Participant submitting the Offer Order being the Lender. At such time, the Lender and Borrower shall be deemed to have entered into the Standard Terms with respect to such Loan, subject to the specific terms of the Loan resulting from the Trade. The Standard Terms shall be legally binding upon such Borrower and Lender as a bilateral agreement between the two parties, and such Borrower and Lender shall be legally bound to complete a Loan transaction pursuant to the Standard Terms and on the terms recorded in the AFX System, which shall be specified in the applicable Trade confirmation.

4.5.5.5 Trades Are Between Participants Exclusively

Loan transactions between Participants resulting from executions of Orders on the Exchange shall be solely between the parties to each such transaction, acting as principals. AFX shall not be a party to any Loan, loan transaction or Order execution in any respect whatsoever, including, without limitation, in the event of a default or alleged default under or pursuant to any Standard Terms. No Participant shall act as agent for any third parties. Neither AFX nor any of its Service Providers shall have any responsibility or liability whatsoever for the performance or nonperformance by the Participants of their obligations under or pursuant to any Loan, Trade, Order execution or other transaction executed on or through the Exchange.

In the event of a default or alleged default in the performance by any Participant that is a party to a Loan prior to the Maturity Date of the Loan as recognized in the AFX ETS, and following receipt by the Exchange of adequate notice of such default or alleged default and the facts and circumstances relating thereto, the Exchange may (but shall not be obligated to), upon consideration by the applicable Committee based solely on the facts known to such Committee at such time, elect to (x) take no action, or (y) remove from the AFX ETS the repayment instructions relating to transfer of the repayment funds on the Maturity Date (in which case notice of such removal shall be communicated to the relevant parties). AFX may also take such action unilaterally or may condition such action on its receipt of such consents, acknowledgements or conditions by or from the applicable Participants as AFX in its discretion determines. Except as may be otherwise determined by AFX and communicated to the applicable Participants due to a Trade cancellation or Trade unwind (as discussed above), any such removal of a repayment instruction from the AFX ETS shall not of itself affect the validity or enforceability of the Standard Terms agreement between the parties governing the underlying Loan, which (subject to the Standard Terms) shall remain a valid and binding contractual agreement solely between the two Participants with respect to the associated Loan. For avoidance of doubt, the Exchange in any case shall not (i) be required to undertake any investigation or inquiry into the matter raised by such notice, or make any determination of the veracity of an allegation of default, (ii) perform the calculation, nor direct the transfer, of any default interest, (iii) accelerate the repayment obligation of the underlying Loan as recognized by the AFX ETS, nor (iv) take any other action with respect to the defaulted or allegedly defaulted Loan other than as described in the immediately preceding sentence of this Rule 4.5.5.4, it being the applicable Participants' sole and exclusive obligation to determine their own rights, duties and remedies with respect to the defaulted or allegedly defaulted Loan outside of the AFX ETS and outside of the operations of the Exchange.

4.5.6 Prohibited Trading and Trading-Related Activities

In addition to any applicable prohibitions contained elsewhere in Exchange Rules, an Exchange Participant shall not, and it shall be a violation of Exchange Rules in the event that an Exchange Participant does:

(i) Make or report or purport to make or report any false or fictitious transaction;

- (ii) Submit any Bid Order or Offer Order with the knowledge that the transaction would result in no change in beneficial ownership thereof;
- (iii) Knowingly submit, or cause to submit, Orders into the AFX ETS other than in good faith for the purpose of executing a Trade;
- (iv) Submit an Order or mislead the market by sending signals with the intent to cancel the Order before it is executed, or modify the Order to avoid execution;
- (v) Submit any Order with the intent to overload, delay, or disrupt the AFX ETS and the orderly conduct of trading; or
- (vi) Fail to timely fund or repay any Loans (together with applicable interest thereon) or otherwise fail to provide the required acknowledgment or such funding or repayment, in each case as required pursuant to Rule 4.6.

4.5.7 Termination/Suspension and Trade Invalidation

All instances of misconduct related to trading activities on the Exchange, including the aforementioned activities, will be reported to the appropriate Committee for action. Misconduct may result in disciplinary sanctions as determined in the sole discretion of the Exchange. Such sanctions include, without limitation, the invalidation of Trades effectuated on the AFX ETS, the imposition of fines against a Participant, suspension and/or expulsion of a Participant, limiting or terminating a Participant's Participation on the Exchange, unwinding or modifying Trades, and/or making reports to regulators, law enforcement entities or other third parties.

Any two Participants' mutual written request for a Trade bust must be received by AFX not later than fifteen (15) minutes after Close of Market on the day of the Trade and prior to the transfer of funds. In the case of a Trade bust due to AFX system error or mutual agreement of the Participants, or for any other reason, and provided that funds related to such busted Trade have not been transferred, the Standard Terms relating to such busted Trade shall be deemed *void ab initio*. If funds have been transferred, AFX may direct and require the relevant Participants to unwind an Unsecured Trade through acceleration or similar methods.

4.6 Settlement Services for Unsecured Trades

Execution of Unsecured Trades on the AFX ETS will initiate the process of settlement services. Such process shall consist of the following:

(i) The AFX ETS will record the Trades consummated on the AFX ETS and details of the product, counterparties, loaned amounts, time and date of transactions, transacted rate and other details.

- (ii) AFX will direct the Lender to transfer cash in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Unsecured Loan. Following receipt of such instruction from AFX, the relevant Lender shall (i) transfer to the relevant Borrower the principal amount of the Unsecured Loan via FedWire (or other customary and appropriate means) by not later than 5:30 p.m. Central Time; and (ii) provide such documentation as AFX may require of the relevant transfer.
- (iii) Once the relevant Borrower has received the full amount of the principal relating to an Unsecured Loan, then, by no later than 5:30 p.m. Central Time on the term commencement start date of the Unsecured Loan, relevant Borrower shall acknowledge in the AFX System with a "*Funds Received*" (or similar) message such relevant Borrower's receipt of the Unsecured Loan principal and provide such documentation as AFX may require of receipt of the relevant transfer. Upon receipt of such message, the AFX ETS shall update the trade status of the Unsecured Loan to "*Funded*" (or similar designation).
- If the AFX ETS does not receive a "Funds Received" (or similar message) from the (iv) relevant Borrower as described in clause (iii) above by 5:30 p.m. Central Time on the term commencement start date of the Unsecured Loan, then the AFX ETS shall update the trade status to "Funding Failure" (or similar designation), and the Unsecured Loan (and associated instructions relating to the counterparty repayment on the Maturity Date) shall be suspended from the AFX ETS. In the event of a "Funding Failure", AFX shall have sole authority to subsequently determine whether and which party has committed a Rule violation, and AFX's determination shall be final and binding upon the parties. The relevant Participant counterparties to the Unsecured Loan shall each cooperate with any AFX inquiry or records request relating to such determination. On the term commencement start date of the Unsecured Loan, the relevant Participants shall communicate directly among each other as may be necessary to resolve any issues relating to the Unsecured Loan that may be delaying funding by the relevant Borrower or acknowledgement of receipt of funds by the relevant Borrower.
- (v) On the Maturity Date, the AFX ETS shall update the trade status of the relevant Unsecured Loan to "*Matured*", unless the trade status has been updated to "*Funding Failure*". By 5:30 p.m. Central Time on such date, the relevant Borrower shall transfer to the relevant Lender the required repayment amount (including any interest) for the Unsecured Loan via FedWire (or other customary and appropriate means) by no later than 5:30 p.m. Central Time. Upon its receipt in full repayment amount, the relevant Lender shall acknowledge receipt of the repayment in the AFX ETS by no later than 5:30 p.m. Central Time on the Maturity Date and provide such documentation as AFX may require of the receipt of the relevant transfer. Upon

receipt of such repayment acknowledgement, the AFX ETS shall update the trade status of the relevant Unsecured Loan to "*Repaid*". The AFX ETS shall communicate such acknowledgement by the relevant Lender to the relevant Borrower. If the AFX ETS does not receive a "*Repaid*" (or similar message) from the relevant Lender by 5:30 p.m. Central Time on the Maturity Date, then the AFX ETS shall update the trade status to "*Repayment Failure*" (or similar designation).

(vi) In the event of any delay beyond the prescribed time frames in clause (v) above, no update to the displayed trade status of the relevant Unsecured Loan shall occur in the AFX ETS. The relevant Participants shall communicate directly among each other as may be necessary to resolve any issues relating to repayment of the Unsecured that may delay repayment by the relevant Borrower, or acknowledgement of receipt of repayment by the relevant Lender.

Chapter V AMERIBOR[®] Deposits

This Chapter shall govern the AMERIBOR[®] Deposits Market. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this Chapter and the provisions of the remainder of this Rulebook, the provisions of this Chapter shall control with respect to AMERIBOR[®] Deposits.

5.1 Responsibilities and Obligations of AMERIBOR® Deposits Participants

5.1.1 Pursuant to this Chapter American Financial Exchange, LLC ("AFX") hereby confirms its agreement and understanding among the Futures Commission Merchant ("FCM") and Bank (collectively, the "Banks") pursuant to which deposits may be placed by FCM through AFX with any of the Banks. These transactions will be referred to as "Deposits" on the electronic trading platform of AFX used to provide this service. The electronic trading platform to be provided by AFX with respect to the Brokered Deposits shall be separate and apart from any trading platform AFX offers with respect to loans. Also, as a new relationship, all transactions between the parties are required to be conducted on the AFX electronic trading platform.

5.1.2 Each of AFX, FCM and the Banks acknowledge and agree that the Brokered Deposits will not be booked or treated as loans in any respect and shall not be governed by the Rulebook of AFX (as currently in effect, the "Rules"), and that none of the FCM or the Banks shall be acting as Participants (as defined in the Rules) when offering, bidding, executing or settling transactions in Brokered Deposits. Instead, all such actions with respect to Brokered Deposits shall be governed solely by the documentation entered into between the FCM and each Bank, except that (i) the FCM and the Banks agree that such activities in Brokered Deposits shall be subject solely to the terms and conditions of the User Agreement and Rule 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of the Rules, which Rules and User Agreement shall be applicable to any activities conducted by the FCM or any Bank through any electronic platform provided by AFX as if such activities were activities in connection with Loans (as defined in the Rules) and the FCM and any Bank were a Participant (as defined in the Rules), notwithstanding the fact that such transactions are and will be treated solely as Deposits; and (ii) the Exchange will establish requirements from time to time that FCMs and Banks must satisfy in order to transact Deposits and (iii) at such time as the Rules have been amended to govern transactions in Deposits, the Rules will be applicable to such Deposits in all respects.

5.1.3 In addition, AFX is not providing any assurances with respect to compliance by any other parties with applicable law. Each party hereto, including each Bank and the FCM, is solely responsible for ensuring that any and all of its activities conducted with respect to Brokered Deposits shall follow any law and regulation applicable to such party.

5.2 Responsibilities and Obligations of AMERIBOR[®] Deposit Participants that Accept Funds Segregated pursuant to the Commodity Exchange Act

5.2.1 Banks that accept funds from FCMs that are required to be segregated by the Commodity Exchange Act ("CEA") and regulations of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") promulgated thereunder (collectively ("Segregated Funds") shall agree to accept and hold such funds pursuant to all CEA and CFTC requirements.

5.2.2 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall furnish the FCM depositing Segregated Funds with an acknowledgement letter in the form required by CFTC Regulation 1.20(d) prior to accepting such Segregated Funds.

5.2.3 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall agree to provide the CFTC and such FCM's self-regulatory organization ("SRO") with read-only access to transactions and account balances of Segregated Funds accounts.

5.2.4 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall provide copies of executed acknowledgement letters to the CFTC and such FCM's SRO within three (3) days of opening of a Segregated Funds account or within three (3) days of executing a new written acknowledgement letter for an existing Segregated Funds account.

5.2.5 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall agree that the CFTC or such FCM's SRO may examine the Segregated Funds account held by the bank at any reasonable time.

5.2.6 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall promptly reply to any request from the CFTC or such FCM's SRO regarding the Segregated Funds account balance or any other information regarding or related to such Segregated Funds account.

5.2.7 Banks that accept Segregated Funds deposits shall limit the use of such deposits to instruments authorized by the depositing FCM and permitted by CFTC Regulation 1.25.

5.2.8 Banks that accept Segregated Funds shall not hold such Segregated Funds at depositories outside of the United States.

5.2.9 FCMs that deposit Segregated Funds with banks through AFX are solely responsible for ensuring that a depository complies with the requirements above.

Chapter VI AFX Correspondent Participants

This Chapter shall govern AFX Correspondent Participants. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this Chapter and the provisions of the remainder of this Rulebook, the provisions of this Chapter shall control with respect to AFX Correspondent Participants.

6.1 AFX Correspondent Participants are AFX Participant depository institutions that wish to consolidate loan offers, process necessary documentation and conduct trades on AFX on behalf of "downstream" depository institutions ("Downstream Banks") on whose behalf the Correspondent Participant provides correspondent banking services and that are not direct participants of AFX.

6.2 AFX Correspondent Participants can access the AFX Market for the sole purpose of offering loans on AFX.

6.3 Correspondent Participants are solely responsible for all transactions conducted on the AFX trading platform and enforcement of AFX rules with their respective Downstream Banks.

6.4 Correspondent Participants shall use the AFX Market screen only for purposes of the Downstream Banks it represents and not for its own trading purposes. Correspondent Participants are required to maintain separate usernames and logins to access the AFX Market screen for purposes of conducting trades on AFX on behalf of "downstream" depository institutions ("Downstream Banks") on whose behalf the Correspondent Participant provides correspondent banking services and that are not direct participants of AFX.

6.5 The terms of the business and legal relationships between Correspondent Participants and Downstream Banks are left to the sole discretion of those parties. Without limitation, Correspondent Participants shall be solely responsible (as between AFX and the Correspondent Participants) for compliance with all applicable laws and regulations in connection with their actions on behalf of Downstream Banks, and loans made by Downstream Banks through the AFX ETS.

6.6 Depository institutions that meet the qualifications provided in Section 3.1.2 of the AFX Rulebook can be accepted as Correspondent Banks and any AFX Participant depository institution may act as a Correspondent Participant by completing and submitting the AFX Aggregator Application.

6.7 Correspondent Participants are responsible for reviewing and approving eligible counterparties and establishing credit limits with such counterparties.

6.8 Trades executed by the Correspondent Participants offering Loans funded with Funding Sources shall be subject to all Exchange Rules established under Chapter IV of the AFX Rulebook.

6.9 For the avoidance of doubt, AFX shall have no responsibility whatsoever for any acts or omissions of any Correspondent Bank or any transactions between the Correspondent Participant and Downstream Banks, all of which shall be the sole responsibility of the Correspondent Participant and Downstream Banks. The Correspondent Participant indemnifies AFX and holds AFX harmless against any and all losses caused by any acts or omissions of any Correspondent Participant and or Downstream Bank.

Chapter VII Benchmarks

This Chapter shall govern the Benchmarks that the Exchange designs and publishes. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this Chapter and the provisions of the remainder of this Rulebook, the provisions of this Chapter shall control with respect to the Exchange Benchmarks.

7.1 Exchange Benchmarks: Exchange Benchmarks are reference statistics, such as interest rates or indices that are calculated based on transactions on the Exchange's electronic trading platform. Such Benchmarks may be daily, monthly, quarterly or of other timeframes. The calculation of such Benchmarks shall be determined by the Exchange with input and recommendations provided by third parties such as Participants and other interested third parties. The Exchange may issue a statement of compliance with the IOSCO Principles for certain financial Benchmarks.

7.2 Exchange Benchmark Calculation Methodology: The methodology used to calculate AFX Benchmarks and other related information will be posted on the Exchange Benchmark public website <u>www.ameribor.net</u>.

7.3 Any modifications to and issues pertaining to the Benchmarks will be posted on the Exchange public website <u>www.ameribor.net</u>.

7.4 The Exchange may act as the Calculation Agent for one or more Benchmarks or may assign Benchmark Calculation Agent responsibilities to a third party.

7.5 The Exchange maintains the following email address for reporting of any concerns or issues pertaining specifically to AMERIBOR[®] interest rate Benchmarks: <u>ameriborrateproduction@theafex.com</u>.

7.6 The Exchange maintains the following email address for whistleblowers for reporting any concerns or issues pertaining to any Benchmark: <u>ameriborrateproduction@theafex.com</u>.

Appendix A – Standard Terms

- 59 -

APPENDIX A

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

(FOR LOANS EXECUTED ON THE AFX MARKETS)

The following are the standard terms and conditions (the "Standard Terms") that will apply to and govern each loan transaction executed between Exchange Participants in the AFX Markets, which will be deemed to have been entered into, and will constitute a legal and binding obligation of each party, in accordance with the Standard Terms and the terms of the AFX Rulebook (as defined below), at the time a proposed transaction is matched and executed in the AFX ETS (a "Loan"). Each Loan entered into by an Exchange Participant may be cancelled or unwound pursuant to the AFX Rulebook. Each Exchange Participant will be obligated to perform its respective obligations related to the Loan pursuant to the Standard Terms and any additional terms and conditions set forth in the AFX Rulebook, for so long as the Loan to which such Exchange Participant is a party is outstanding. The AFX Rulebook is hereby incorporated by reference into these Standard Terms. These Standard Terms, including the applicable provisions of the AFX Rulebook, represent a legally binding and enforceable agreement between two Exchange Participants that enter into a Loan through the AFX ETS solely with respect to such Loan. For the avoidance of doubt, if and to the extent such two Exchange Participants enter into a new Loan through the AFX ETS, there shall be created a separate legally enforceable agreement under these Standard Terms. Following entry into a Loan through the AFX ETS, AFX will issue a transaction confirmation (a "Confirmation"), which shall reflect the information set forth in Schedule I hereto, to each Exchange Participant that is a party to such Loan and such Confirmation, absent manifest error, shall be binding on the Exchange Participants and shall constitute the definitive and binding terms of each Loan. Any capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in the Standard Terms shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the AFX Rulebook.

Chapter 1 - Loan Terms

1.1 Loan Parties.

Each Loan will be made by and between the Borrower and the Lender specified in the Confirmation issued with respect to the Loan.

1.2 *Effective Date.*

Each Loan will be deemed to have been made on Effective Date.

1.3 Principal Amount & Funding.

Each Loan will be made in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount set forth in the Confirmation issued with respect to the Loan (the "Loan Amount"). For an Unsecured Loan, initial payment of the Loan Amount shall be made by the Lender in U.S. Dollars to Borrower not later than 5:30 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois Time) on the Effective Date. Such payment shall be made to Lender by Borrower by transfer of immediately available funds through FedWire (or other customary and appropriate means outside of the AFX ETS). Any funds received by Borrower after 5:30 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on any date shall be deemed to have been paid on the next succeeding Business Day.

1.4 Interest on the Loan.

Each Loan shall bear interest on the unpaid Loan Amount at a rate per annum equal to the rate specified in the Confirmation issued with respect to the Loan (the "Interest Rate"), from and including, for an Unsecured Loan, the Effective Date through but excluding the date upon which the Loan Amount is fully paid. All accrued and unpaid interest on the unpaid Loan Amount shall be payable on the date that is: (a) for Unsecured Loans, one Business Day after the Effective Date or the Business Day that is thirty calendar days after the Effective Date (provided, that if such day is not a Business Day, the next following Business Day), depending on the "Maturity Date" of the Bilateral Loan specified in the Confirmation issued with respect to the Loan; provided, that if such day is not a Business Day, the next following Business Day (any such date, the "Maturity Date"). "Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks in Chicago, Illinois are authorized or required by law to close. To the extent that the Loan has been accelerated in accordance with Section 5.1 herein, Borrower shall repay the Loan Amount, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, immediately upon the date of such acceleration. (a) Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default under Section 5.1(i) and (ii) in any case with respect to any overdue amount under the Loan (including accrued and unpaid interest), with respect to such overdue amount, interest thereon shall accrue and be compounded on a daily basis on such amount and the interest due and owing on such amount for each day from (and including) the date of such Event of Default to (but excluding) the date of actual payment (by Borrower) at a rate per annum equal to the Interest Rate plus 1%. (b) All interest (including each notional amount of interest calculated in connection with Section 1.4(a) shall accrue and be calculated based on actual days elapsed and a 360-day year. Interest shall not accrue on the Loan, or any portion thereof, for the day on which the Loan or such portion is paid in accordance with Section 1.6.

1.6 Payments.

(a) The payment of the principal and interest on an outstanding Unsecured Loan and any other payments thereunder shall be made by the Borrower in U.S. Dollars to Lender not later than 1:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the Maturity Date.

- 61 -

1.7 Taxes.

All payments made on a Loan pursuant to these Standard Terms shall be made free and clear of and without deduction or withholding for any taxes, unless the withholding of such tax is required by Applicable Law, in which case such tax shall be withheld or deducted and paid over to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law. Lender (and any assignee of Lender) shall deliver to Borrower executed originals of IRS Form W-9 (or an applicable IRS Form W-8) certifying that such Lender (or assignee, as relevant) is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax. Each party (including any assignee) agrees to complete, accurately and in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the other party, and to execute, arrange for any required certification of, and deliver to the other party (or to such Governmental Authority as the other party reasonably directs), any form or document that may be required or reasonably requested in order to allow the other party to make a payment on a Loan pursuant to these Standard Terms without any deduction or withholding for or on account of any tax or with such deduction or withholding at a reduced rate, promptly upon the earlier of (i) reasonable demand by the other party and (ii) learning that the form or document is required. Each party (including any assignee) agrees that if any such form or document that such party (or assignee) previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the other party in writing of its legal inability to do so.

Chapter 2 – Conditions Precedent

The execution of each Loan and each of Borrower's and Lender's obligations pursuant to these Standard Terms with respect to such Loan shall be conditioned upon the following, and, in the event that any such condition is not satisfied, no Loan may be executed by such party.

2.1 Compliance with Standard Terms.

Each of Borrower and Lender shall be in full compliance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Standard Terms, including any applicable provisions of the AFX Rulebook.

2.2 Truthfulness of Representations and Warranties.

The representations and warranties of each of Borrower and Lender set forth in these Standard Terms shall be true and correct in all respects as of the Effective Date. A-5

2.3 No Event of Default.

No event shall have occurred that would constitute an Event of Default with respect to Borrower or Lender, as the case may be, in connection with such party or with respect to any Loan it has entered into that remains outstanding.

Chapter 3 – Representations and Warranties

Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Lender, Lender hereby represents and warrants to Borrower, and each of Borrower and Lender, represents and warrants on its own behalf to and for the benefit of AFX, that, as of the Effective Date and up to and including the Maturity Date of each Loan:

3.1 Due Organization, Good Standing and Authority.

It is duly formed and validly existing, and is in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization. It has the power and authority to enter into the Loan and to perform its obligations thereunder. The execution and performance of the Loan and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all of its necessary corporate or similar action, and no other action or proceeding on its part is necessary to authorize the execution of the Loan or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

3.2 Binding Effect.

Its entering into the Loan pursuant to the Standard Terms constitutes a valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with such terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer and similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and to general principles of equity.

3.3 No Consents.

No consent, waiver, approval, authorization, exemption, registration, license or declaration of or by, notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required to be made or obtained by it in connection with its entering into the Loan and performance pursuant to the Standard Terms. For purposes of the Standard Terms, "Governmental Authority" shall mean the government of the United States or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state, provincial or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity A-6

exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

3.4 No Conflicts or Default.

Its entering into the Loan and its performance pursuant to the Standard Terms and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any of the terms and provisions of (i) its organizational

documents; (ii) any agreement or instrument binding upon it or any of its properties or assets, the breach of which would have a Material Adverse Effect; or (iii) any applicable laws to which it or any of its property or assets is subject, violation of which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. For purposes of the Standard Terms, "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean a material adverse effect on or material adverse change in: (w) the financial condition, assets, prospects or business of Borrower or Lender, taken as a whole; (x) the ability of Borrower or Lender to perform or comply with its obligations under the Standard Terms or its material obligations under any other documents related to the Loan (such documents, together with the Standard Terms, the "Loan Documents"); (y) the validity, legality or enforceability of the Standard Terms or any other Loan Documents; or (z) the validity, perfection or priority of the Security Interests provided under the Standard Terms, as applicable.

3.5 Compliance with Laws.

It has complied and is in compliance, in all material respects, with all laws applicable to such entity, as the case may be, it has not been charged with or found to have committed any material violation of any provision of any law, and it has not received any written notice of any material violation of law, in each case except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.6 Due Diligence.

It understands, acknowledges and agrees that it is solely responsible for the taking of all actions and the satisfaction of all obligations required of it under Applicable Law and its customary practices, policies and procedures, in connection with any Loan (or in connection with any other similar transaction) that it enters into, and that AFX and any Service Provider providing services to AFX shall have no responsibility or liability whatsoever related to or arising out of the performance of such functions and satisfaction of such obligations. Such actions and obligations include, without limitation, performing due diligence on and verifying the creditworthiness of any party to a Loan, performing due diligence on and satisfying all requirements and obligations under Applicable Law and its customary practices and procedures regarding any other party, including but not limited to "know-your-customer," anti-money laundering and other similar requirements and obligations.

3.7 *Representations and Warranties of Bank Loan Market Participants and Non-Bank Loan Market Participants.* (a) It is one of the following types of entities: (i) a Bank, (ii) an insurance company subject to regulation as such under applicable laws and regulations, (iii) a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as such (or an affiliate thereof); (iv) a lender that is registered as such under Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; (v) a fund that relies on Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company A-7 Act for exemption from such Act that has as one of its primary purposes the making of loans; (vi) a "finance company" that is affiliated with a broker-dealer, corporation or financial institution

- 64 -

and that is regularly engaged in the business of making loans, (vii) a futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission as such, (viii) an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended; (ix) a corporation. (b) If acting as a Lender, it is regularly engaged, in the ordinary course of its business, in the making of loans for the purpose of providing short-term operational funding to the borrowers of such loans where such loans are made in the form of, and are characterized and treated by the parties, for purposes of their books and records and any applicable regulatory requirements, as loans, and are not in the form of, and are not documented or characterized as, debt securities, notes, deposits or other types of investment transactions or instruments.

Chapter 4 – Covenants

Borrower and Lender, each on its own behalf, hereby covenants to each other party with which it has entered into a Loan, and to AFX, that, so long as the Loan remains outstanding:

4.1 Existence.

It (i) shall maintain its legal existence under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) shall maintain good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and all other jurisdictions in which it maintains offices or does business, (iii) shall maintain all licenses necessary or desirable for the performance of its obligations under the Standard Terms and the continued operation of its business, in full force and effect, and (iv) shall qualify and remain qualified to do business in each jurisdiction in which it transacts its business, except, in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), where the failure to do so, when taken together with all other such failures, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

4.2 Compliance with Laws.

It shall comply in all material respects with the requirements of all laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its business or property, except in such instances in which (i) such requirement of law or order, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (ii) the failure to comply therewith would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

4.3 Compliance with AFX Rulebook.

It shall comply in all material respects and at all times with the rules, terms, conditions and obligations set forth in the AFX Rulebook, as amended from time to time, as relating to such Loan evidenced hereby and the Standard Terms as relating to such Loan. In the event of any occurrence, event, action, condition or circumstance that causes it to be out of compliance with or default on its obligations A-8

pursuant to the AFX Rulebook and the Standard Terms (a "Non-Compliance Event"), it shall deliver immediate written notice of such Non-Compliance Event to the other party on the Loan and AFX.

4.4 Books and Records.

It shall maintain any and all agreements, documents or other records related to the Loan as part of its official books and records, *provided*, *however*, that the books and records of AFX, as reflected in the AFX ETS with respect to the Loan evidenced hereby, shall constitute the definitive records of all information related to the Loan evidenced hereby.

4.5 Due Diligence.

It shall be solely responsible for any initial and ongoing due diligence related to any other party with which it enters into a Loan, including but not limited to "know-your-customer," anti-money laundering and any other similar requirements or regulations under Applicable Law, and for compliance with its customary practices, policies and procedures with respect to each Loan and each other party to a Loan. Without limitation of the foregoing, it shall be solely responsible for any initial and ongoing assessment or evaluation as to the credit rating and credit worthiness of each other party at each time a Loan is entered into and for so long as any Loan remains outstanding.

Chapter 5 – Events of Default

5.1 Events of Default.

Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an "Event of Default" with respect to the Borrower: (i) default shall occur in the payment of any portion of the Loan Amount, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or by acceleration thereof or otherwise;

(ii) Borrower shall fail to comply with or perform any term, covenant or agreement contained in any covenant or agreement contained in these Standard Terms or any other Loan Documents, in any material respect (other than a covenant or agreement described in clauses (i) above) and such failure pursuant to this clause (ii) shall have continued unremedied for three business days after written notice thereof from Lender to Borrower; (iii) any representation and warranty pursuant to Section 3 hereof, or any other material representation, warranty or certification made or deemed made herein or in any other Loan Documents (or in any modification or supplement hereto or thereto) by Borrower, or any certificate furnished to Lender pursuant to the provisions hereof, shall have been false or misleading as of the time made or furnished in any material respect, A-9

provided that if such false or misleading statement or certification is capable of being cured, it shall not be an Event of Default if Borrower effects such cure within three days after written notice from Lender or knowledge by Borrower of such false or misleading statement or certification; (iv) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction seeking (A) relief in respect of Borrower, or of a substantial part of the property of any such Person (where, for purposes of these Standard Terms, "Person" shall mean any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity), under Title 11 of the United States Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended, or any other federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law; (B) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for any such Person or for a substantial part of the property of such Person; or (C) the winding-up or liquidation of any such Person; and such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for ten days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered; (v) a competent government agency having primary regulatory authority over the Borrower shall be appointed as a receiver, liquidator or other similar official in any receivership, insolvency, liquidation or similar proceedings under any applicable federal or state banking, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter in effect with respect to the Borrower or of a substantial part of the property of any such Person, or an order in any case or proceeding under any applicable federal or state banking, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter in effect shall be entered or decreed appointing a receiver, liquidator or other similar official with respect to the Borrower or all or of a substantial part of the property of any such Person. (vi) Borrower shall (A) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking relief under Title 11 of the United States Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended, or any other federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law; (B) consent to the institution of, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any proceeding or the filing of any petition described in clause (vi) above; (C) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for any such Person or for a substantial part of the property of such Person; (D) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding; (E) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (F) become unable, admit in writing its inability or fail generally to pay its debts as they become due; (G) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or (H) wind up or liquidate; (vii) (A) these Standard Terms or any material provisions hereof, shall at any time and for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be null and void, or Borrower shall repudiate or deny any portion of its liability or obligation hereunder or thereunder,; (viii) one or more final, non-appealable judgments, orders, decrees or arbitration awards shall be entered against Borrower (A) involving the aggregate liability of \$5 million or more (net of insurance coverage provided by a carrier and for which liability has been acknowledged in writing by such carrier), and the same shall remain unsatisfied, unvacated or unstayed pending appeal for a period of ten days after the entry thereof or (B) that has or would reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect,

and there shall be a period of ten consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, shall not be in effect.

Chapter 6– Miscellaneous

6.1 Entire Understanding.

These Standard Terms, together with the relevant provisions of the AFX Rulebook (as amended from time to time), if any, constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and supersede all prior agreements, written or oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter thereof.

6.2 Amendments and Waivers.

AFX may amend these Standard Terms and any provisions of the AFX Rulebook, in accordance with such AFX Rulebook at any time, *provided* that any such amendments will apply only to Loans entered into after the effective date of such amendments. Borrower and Lender may, with the written consent of the Exchange, amend the terms of these Standard Terms upon written agreement of each party. A-11

6.3 No Assignment.

No party may assign any of its rights or obligations under any Loan and any assignment in violation of this Section 6.3 shall be void *ab initio*.

6.4 Severability.

If any one or more of the provisions of these Standard Terms shall be for any reason whatsoever held invalid, to the extent permitted by law, such provisions shall be deemed severable from and shall in no way affect the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof.

6.5 Notices.

All notices and communications hereunder shall be deemed to have been duly given and made if in writing and if served by personal delivery upon the party for whom it is intended or delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or if sent by facsimile or email, *provided* that the facsimile or email is promptly confirmed by telephone confirmation thereof, to the Person at the address specified on the books and records of AFX, or such other address as may be designated in writing hereafter, in the same manner, by such Person.

6.6 Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial.

THESE STANDARD TERMS SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE MADE IN AND IN ALL RESPECTS SHALL BE INTERPRETED, CONSTRUED AND GOVERNED BY AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF. BORROWER AND LENDER EACH ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY THAT MAY ARISE UNDER THESE STANDARD TERMS IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY ACTION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THESE STANDARD TERMS, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

6.7 Consent to Jurisdiction.

Borrower and Lender each agrees that it shall bring any action or proceeding in respect of any claim arising out of or related to these Standard Terms or the transactions contained in or contemplated by these Standard Terms exclusively in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois or any Illinois court sitting in Chicago (the "Chosen Courts"), and solely in connection with claims arising under these Standard Terms or the transactions that are the subject of these Standard Terms (i) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Chosen Courts, (ii) waives any objection to laying venue in any action or proceeding in the Chosen Courts, (iii) waives any objection that the Chosen Courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party hereto and (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 6.5. Borrower and Lender each agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. With respect to any Borrower or Lender that does not maintain a place of business in the United States or is not qualified to do business in any state in the United States, each such Borrower or Lender irrevocably designates C.T. Corporation as its agent and attorneyin-fact for the acceptance of service of process and making an appearance on its behalf in any such claim or proceeding and for the taking of all such acts as may be necessary or appropriate in order to confer jurisdiction over it before the Chosen Courts, and each such Borrower or Lender stipulates that such consent and appointment is irrevocable and coupled with an interest.

6.8 Successors and Assignees.

These Standard Terms shall bind Borrower and Lender and their successors and permitted assigns. These Standard Terms shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by Borrower and Lender and their successors and permitted assigns.

6.9 Disclaimer of Liability.

AFX shall have no responsibility or obligations with respect to Borrower's and Lender's ongoing compliance with the rules, terms, conditions and obligations set forth in the AFX Rulebook, or Borrower's and Lender's performance of their respective obligations pursuant to the Standard Terms. AFX disclaims any and all liability with respect to any loss or claim for damages based on or arising out of any breach of the provisions of the AFX Rulebook or the Standard Terms by Borrower or Lender.

<u>Schedule I</u>

Transaction Confirmation Information

AFX Trade Confirmations will contain the following information:

Item 1. Trade ID:	
Item 2. Trade Date:	_
Item 3. Borrower:	
Item 4. Lender:	
Item 5. Loan Amount:	
Item 6. Interest Rate:	
Item .7 Repayment Amount:	
Item 8. Maturity Date:	

Item 9. Loan Type: Unsecured (uncollateralized)

Rulebook Amendment History

Effective date

(Yr./Mo./Day)	
2023/05/30	

Version 4.4 <u>Rule(s) Substantively Changed</u> "AFX Rulebook – Unsecured Products Only" is a subset of the "AFX Rulebook – All Products"